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China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2010

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The board of directors (the “Board”) hereby presents
the annual results of China Gamma Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for
the financial year ended 31 March 2010.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover of the Group amounted to HK$3,762,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2010 which mainly generated from
property management, sales and rental income, representing
a drop of approximately 3.6% from the restated turnover of
HK$3,902,000 in the previous year ended 31 March 2009.
Other revenue and gains, which were mainly net realised
gains and net unrealised gains on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as well as fair value gain on
investment properties, amounted to HK$48,745,000 for the
year compared to losses of HK$18,268,000 for the previous
financial year.

Loss from operations for the year reduced from
HK$75,759,000 for the previous year ended 31 March
2009 to HK$46,705,000 for the year. Net loss attributable
to equity holders of the Company for the year decreased to
HK$51,194,000 from HK$78,812,000 incurred in the previous
financial year. Loss per share was HK1.84 cents compared to
HK2.95 cents for the previous financial year.

As at 31 March 2010, total assets and net assets of the Group
were HK$176,855,000 and HK$109,157,000 respectively.

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2010.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in gamma ray irradiation
services, property development, rental and sales, trading of
building materials and provision of renovation services, and
securities trading and investment.

Gamma Ray Irradiation Services

In the year under review, the Group has been gradually
shifting its major business from mainly engaged in property
development and investments to gamma ray irradiation
services. The Company's name changed from “Premium Land
Limited” (" E/EREEEH AR AF]") to "China Gamma Group
Limited” (" EMIIEEBE AR 2AR") on 19 October 2009 to
fully reflect the business direction and strategy of the Group in
the years to come.

EEENWEDN

BB EBMERLAR ((AQA]) &
g(EFg) XM ARAREHB R
(RBIAEE)REBEE_T-TF=
A=Z+—RIMBREEZ2FXRE -

1 7% B B8

HE T ZF=-A=Z+—HIFEE K
£ B4R 154 ¥ 53,762,000 L 0 EE K
BEWEEE HERMEKRA REEZZ
EENFZAZ+—HLILAFEZESE
%l ‘& 2 %83,902,0008 7T T [ #93.6% ° 2
FEZEMBRARKE (FZEAREAFE
ARG ERMEECEERKREFER

BRWRFEUNREEDE 2 AFER
%) & BE3E 48,745,000 7T 0 M - B B
F[E 7 E1EE18,268,000/8 T °

':F‘
£
5

REE7EEBEBRBEE_ZTTNLF=
A=+—H81 E@EFE#75759,000%
TCHIR 2 A F [E #946,705,00078 7T ° AR
A=A ARGEER LAY BREE
E 4 /978,812,000 7T Bl Bk = &~ F E A
51,194,000 7T - T E 18 &1.84%8 10 -
i _E{E B X F & A2.958 1 -

RZZE—FBFE=-A=+—0 X&EEEE
BENEEFED B A176,855,000/% 7T
109,157,000/ 7T o

EEeER TRNBE_T—FTF=A
=T BHLEFEZEMMEES -

£ JE)

AEBEEXEREMHFHRRT RS W%
BE -HERHEE BEMHES RERHR
KERYE ULBHFEENKRE -

100 355 5 AR R 5 BR 3%

REBEFERN AKREEZSHEETER
BHREEYERRLIEE RMIBH KRR
SRS - ARRl 2 BN —FTNF+A
THHEBILEEBRBEEMBR AR EHR
AIPEMNSEEBRAR] - WAL
B R REFE 2 577 A R RS



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Gamma Ray Irradiation Services (continued)

The acquisition of the gamma ray facilities at Zibo, Shandong,
marked an important development of the Group in entering
into the gamma ray irradiation business. In September 2009,
the Group entered into an agreement to acquire 80% interests
in EEFREREEBEMAER AT (Zbo Lyuan Gamma Ray
Technologies Co. Limited), which was duly licensed by the
Ministry of Environmental Protection of the mainland China
and is principally engaged in cold pasteurization of food and
sterilization of medical products utilising advanced gamma
ray technologies in Shandong Province. The first phase of
the facilities, with an initial design capacity of 2,000,000
curie, commenced soft operations in 2009. The acquisition
was formally completed in March 2010, after which a new
warehouse was constructed for the purpose of enhancing the
logistics to accommodate the increasing levels of operations.
Since acquisition completion, we have formed a new
professional management team to enhance our gamma ray
irradiation business across China. We believe that the gamma
ray irradiation business will enter into a new phase of growth
under our management.

Sharing the same goal of enhancing public health and living
standard of the Chinese people, the Group entered into an
exclusive cooperation agreement with FEARBHEE

EER 2T (The Academy of Military Medical Sciences),
one of the top research institutions in gamma ray irradiation
applications in China, on 18 December 2009. The cooperation
will seek to, among other things, enhance the versatile
applications of gamma ray technologies and make available
irradiation services across China for the benefits of the
Chinese people and business sectors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development, Rental and Sales

Turnover generated from the property development, rental
and sales were HK$2,937,000 for the year. Segment loss
was HK$27,365,000, versus previous financial year's loss of
HK$13,834,000. The loss was mainly due to an impairment
loss on other receivables of HK$30,357,000 as a result
of provision for the prepayment for the first level of land
development project in a village in Huairou Town, Huairou
District, Beijing, the PRC. The prepayment of approximately
HK$27,517,000 was mainly paid for the first level of land
development purposes. The directors are of the opinion that
there has not been any satisfactory progress of relocation
of the existing residents since the termination of disposal of
such project to an independent purchaser, whose acquisition
deposit of RMB2,500,000 had been forfeited, and, after taking
the advice from our lawyers in the mainland China, consider
that the recoverability of the costs incurred for the first level
of land development was remote. As such, provision of the
amount brought forward of HK$27,517,000 has been made
and further costs incurred of HK$2,840,000 were expensed.

The Group has an entire interest in a land of approximately
5,800 square meters located in Phase Il Phoenix Town
located at No. 500 Hongjin Avenue, Longxi Street, Yubei
District, Chongqing, the PRC (fz A+ Bl & B i1 A 1k [ AT 88 K 8
5005k B2 3 8) with a total saleable area of approximately
35,000 square meters mainly for residential purpose. The
project, designed to develop residential properties with
ancillary commercial shops, recreational facilities and car
park lots, is at the preliminary stage of development and is
planned to be completed by 2012. In addition, the Group
has investment properties including shops and car park lots
located in Phase | and Phase Il Phoenix Town located at No.
500 Hongjin Avenue, Longxi Street, Yubei District, Chongqing,
the PRC (i BIE B ek R 4188 K&5005% B2 1 EA
AN2H7). With the tightening measures taken by the Chinese
government in April and May 2010 to cool down the mainland
property market, the property markets especially in the first tier
cities remain rather weak and we remain rather cautious in our
property investments and development in the mainland China.
While we still keep our plan of developing the residential
project in Yubei District, Chongging, the PRC, we will closely
monitor the market conditions in conjunction with our property

project management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Trading of Building Materials and Provision of Renovation
Services

The operating environments of building materials trading
and renovation services remained difficult in the year under
review; turnover of the segment dropped to HK$618,000 from
HK$3,902,000 for the previous financial year. The segment
loss was HK$2,430,000 compared to the previous financial
year's HK$2,157,000. Though the global financial markets
continue to improve in the year, the recovery of building
materials trading and renovation services was rather slow.
Added with the austerity measures taken by the Chinese
government to cool down the mainland property market,
the operating environment remained tough. We believe the
segment will remain as a non-core business of the Group.

Securities Trading and Investment

In the year under review, global stock markets gradually
recovered amid restoring of confidence. Performance of the
Group's securities trading and investment segment improved
significantly. Net realised gains and net unrealised gains on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounted
to HK$35,062,000 as at 31 March 2010. Segment profit for
the year was HK$35,069,000 versus previous financial year's
loss of HK$21,790,000. The Group will continue to maintain a
prudent strategy in its securities trading and investment.

SEGMENT RESULTS

Turnover generated from property development, rental and
sales were HK$2,937,000. Segment loss was HK$27,365,000
compared to previous financial year's HK$13,834,000.

Turnover generated from the trading of building materials and
provision of renovation services amounted to HK$618,000
versus previous financial year's HK$3,902,000. Segment loss
was HK$2,430,000 compared to previous financial year's
HK$2,157,000.

With less than one month results consolidated for the
year, gamma ray irradiation services generated turnover of
HK$207,000, with a segment loss of HK$192,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SEGMENT RESULTS (continued)

In prior years, sale proceeds of investments held for trading
were presented within turnover and the related cost of sales
were presented on the face of the consolidated income
statement. With a view to aligning with the market practice
and providing more relevant information regarding the Group's
operations, the Group changed its presentation of turnover
and cost of sales in 2010.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, gross proceeds from
securities trading were HK$168,209,000 compared to last
year's HK$47,286,000; segment profit for the year was
HK$35,069,000 versus last year's loss of HK$21,790,000.

PROSPECT

Looking forward, the Group's business strategy was clearly set
to develop gamma ray irradiation business in mainland China.
With the first base established in Shandong Province, we are
taking steps to extend the business coverage to various major
cities in China with the support from the Academy of Military
Medical Sciences to accommodate the growing demand for
gamma ray irradiation services triggered by the adoption of
the Food Safety Regulations in the PRC in 2009. In addition,
the Group is actively exploring merger and acquisition
opportunities to strengthen its presence in the market.

In 2010, while the Group will continue to maintain a healthy
balance sheet and create value for our shareholders, we will
remain focused on rebuilding profitability and growth of our
businesses and expect to achieve continued progress in this
regard. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to prudently and
actively identify and pursue potential projects with immense
development potentials.

CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2009: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEF®RRDN

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of HK$7,218,000 compared to previous financial
year's HK$9,373,000.

Bank borrowings substantially reduced from last year's
HK$25,601,000 to HK$7,393,000 for the year. The gearing
ratio, being the ratio of total borrowings to shareholders’ fund
as at 31 March 2010, improved from last year's 20% to 7%
for the year. The liquidity ratio, being the ratio of current
assets over current liabilities, decreased slightly from last year's
119% to 110%.

With the financial resources available, the Group has sufficient
working capital to meet its present requirements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2010, the Company had no significant
contingent liabilities (2009: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE

82,750,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each were issued and
allotted during the year upon exercise of share options granted
by the Company.

On 21 September 2009, the Board proposed the issue of
bonus shares on the basis of four (4) bonus shares for every
one (1) then existing share (the “Bonus Issue”) held by the
qualifying shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on 19 October 2009 by way of
capitalization from the Company's share premium account.
Details of the Bonus Issue are set out in the Company’s
circular dated 25 September 2009. The Bonus Issue has been
approved by the shareholders of the Company at the special
general meeting held on 19 October 2009. Accordingly,
2,250,545,192 bonus shares were issued and allotted on 20
October 2009 credited as fully paid at par.

As at 31 March 2010, the total number of issued shares of
the Company was 2,867,681,490.

Save as the above, there was no change in the share capital
structure of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2010.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 14 December 2007, Unique Gold Investments Limited
("Unique Gold"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a conditional agreement with Zhuang Xu and
Tang Mao (together the “Sunrise Vendors"), pursuant to which
Unique Gold conditionally agreed to acquire from the Sunrise
Vendors the entire equity interest in EFEBHREMEREH
fR/A 7] (Chongging Sunrise Property Development Company
Limited), which was owned as to 51% by Zhuang Xu and
49% by Tang Mao (the “Sunrise Acquisition”). The total
consideration for the Sunrise Acquisition was RMB45,000,000
which was to be settled in cash. Details of the acquisition are
set out in the Company’s circular dated 8 January 2008. The
transaction was completed on 15 June 2009.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

On 14 December 2007, Unique Gold entered into a
conditional agreement with Zhang Xue Ping and Zhang Xue
Mei (together the “Feng Hong Ji Vendors”), pursuant to which
Unique Gold conditionally agreed to acquire from the Feng
Hong Ji Vendors the entire equity interest in BB Bl oA T & 2
EMREM2A A (Chongging Feng Hong Ji Enterprise Company
Limited), which was owned as to 90% by Zhang Xue Ping
and 10% by Zhang Xue Mei (the “Feng Hong Ji Acquisition”).
The total consideration for the Feng Hong Ji Acquisition was
RMB25,000,000 which was to be settled in cash. Details of
the acquisition are set out in the Company's circular dated
8 January 2008. The transaction was completed on 15 June
2009.

On 18 July 2009, ItRIBHEREFEAGR AT (Beijing De
Bang Fu Strategic Consultancy Company Limited) (“Beijing
De Bang Fu"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the sales and purchase agreement with it R E[&E
FEEFE AR AT (Beijing Chenlong Jiade Property Company
Limited) (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which Beijing De
Bang Fu agreed to dispose of 90% of the entire issued share
capital of ItRERREMEREZEFR AT (Beijing Ju Din
Yuen Property Development Company Limited) (“Beijing
Ju Din Yuen”) and all the shareholder's loan and monies
due from Beijing Ju Din Yuen and its subsidiary to Beijing
De Bang Fu for a consideration of RMB25,000,000. Given
that the Purchaser has not fulfilled its payment obligations
under the sale and purchase agreement, Beijing De Bang
Fu, having taken advice from its PRC lawyers, decided to
terminate the sale and purchase agreement on 17 November
2009 and, through its PRC lawyers, served relevant notice of
termination on the Purchaser. Furthermore, pursuant to the
sale and purchase agreement, the deposit of RMB2,500,000
already paid by the Purchaser had been forfeited. Details of
the transaction and its subsequent termination are set out in
the Company's announcements dated 20 July 2009, 23 July
2009, 31 July 2009, 25 August 2009, 5 September 2009,
30 September 2009, 2 November 2009 and 17 November
2009.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

On 11 September 2009, Top Field Technology Limited (“Top
Field"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into the acquisition agreement with 2 (Wu Jiang)("Mr.
Wu"), pursuant to which Top Field agreed to acquire from Mr.
Wu the 80% equity interests in J&1EFRE R BRI ARE A
Al (Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray Technologies Co. Limited). The
total consideration for the acquisition was RMB44,000,000
which was to be settled in cash. Details of the acquisition are
set out in the Company's announcement dated 11 September
2009. The transaction was completed in March 2010.

Apart from the above, the Group had no material acquisition
and disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March
2010.

LITIGATIONS

(a) In July 2005, Gold United International Industries Limited
("Gold United"), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, was notified by the Hong Kong Companies
Registry that an annual return of Gold United filed in
May 2005 (“May Annual Return”) contained information,
including information relating to members and directors
of Gold United, which are significantly different from the
original annual return that was presented by the Group
on 29 April 2005.

On 13 July 2005, the Company filed a Writ of Summons
against four persons (the “Defendants”) seeking, amongst
others, declarations by the court to the effect that Winsky
Management Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, is the beneficial owner of 51% of the issued
share capital of Gold United. The Defendants were those
persons who purportedly filed the false information with
the Hong Kong Companies Registry and/or were identified
as members and directors in the May Annual Return and
other documents. Gold United is an investment holding
fE B R /A7) (Hanzhou Hengyun Jiaotong Development
Company Limited), which is engaged in the operation of
a highway in the PRC.

The Writ of Summons was amended on 1 February 2006,
re-amended on 10 October 2006 and re-re-amended on
13 July 2008 respectively.
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LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

In June 2009, the Group was notified by the Hong Kong
Companies Registry that the various statutory returns
and forms confirmed by the Group had already been
filed under the public record of Gold United and that
the documents submitted by the other parties would be
returned.

After due consideration of the matter (including but not
limited to the fact that the public record of Gold United at
the Hong Kong Companies Registry has been rectified),
without prejudice to the position and rights of the Group,
the Board has decided not to proceed with the legal
proceedings at this stage.

On 24 October 2007, Silver Wind International Limited
("Silver Wind"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a conditional agreement (the
“Acquisition Agreement”) with Stronway Development
Limited (“Stronway Development”), pursuant to
which Silver Wind agreed to acquire from Stronway
Development the entire equity interest in Winmax
Asia Investment Limited (“Winmax Asia”). Under the
arrangement, Winmax Asia will in turn acquire the entire
equity interest in Beijing Jianxing Real Estate Development
Co. (“Jianxing") along with Jianxing's standalone villas
development project in Beijing known as "1 2EE"
(New Star Garden). The aggregate consideration payable
for the acquisition was RMB433,000,000 which was to be
settled in cash and by transfer of two villas. In December
2007, RMB20,000,000 was paid under the Acquisition
Agreement to Stronway Development by Silver Wind as
deposit (the “Deposit”). Details of the acquisition are set
out in the Company's circular dated 14 December 2007.

In April 2008, on the grounds, amongst other things,
that the subject matter under the Acquisition Agreement
was frustrated, Silver Wind decided to terminate
the Acquisition Agreement and, through its legal
representative has served a notice of termination to
Stronway Development. In order to protect the position
of Silver Wind and to recover, amongst other things, the
Deposit from Stronway Development legal proceedings
were instigated against Stronway Development on this
matter in the High Court of Hong Kong on 15 April 2008.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LITIGATIONS (continued)

As at the date of this report, the legal proceedings against
Stronway Development are still pending and there is no
significant development.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE RISK AND
INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's transactions are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi. The Group did not enter into any
foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge against exchange
rates fluctuations. Foreign exchange risk arising from the
normal course of operations is considered to be minimal and
the management will closely monitor the fluctuation in the
currency and take appropriate actions when condition arises.

In terms of the interest rate risk exposures, the Group
does not have any significant interest rate risk as both the
borrowings of the Group and the interest rates currently
remain at low levels.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2010, the Group employed 90 employees
(2009: 32). Remuneration packages are generally structured
by reference to market terms and individual merits. Salaries
are reviewed periodically based on performance appraisal
and other relevant factors. Staff benefits plans maintained by
the Group include medical insurance, hospitalization scheme,
mandatory provident fund and share option scheme.

Employees in the PRC are remunerated according to
the prevailing market conditions in the locations of their
employments.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt
gratitude to shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers and
professional advisors for their support of the Company over
the past year and to sincerely thank the staff for their ongoing
dedication and contribution made in the year.

On behalf of the Board

Ho Chi Ho
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 July 2010
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSREEAEBERBT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ho Chi Ho, aged 35, joined the Board on 2 March 2007.
He holds a Master degree in Business Administration from
The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and
a Bachelor degree in Business Administration (Accounting &
Finance) from The University of Hong Kong. Mr. Ho has over
12 years experience in corporate finance with participation
in activities including mergers and acquisitions, initial public
offerings and equity syndication. He is a responsible officer
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance for type 6
regulated activity (advising on corporate finance).

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren, aged 53, joined the Board on
24 July 2006. He has been an Executive Director and the
Company Secretary of the Company since 24 July 2006 and
15 December 2006 respectively. Prior to that Mr. Ma has
been an Executive Director and Company Secretary of a Hong
Kong listed company for over 7 years. He has over 21 years
of accounting experience and is an associate member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales.

Mr. Chow Siu Ngor, aged 55, joined the Board on 30 April
2006. He is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow
graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1981
with an honors degree in Social Science. He then obtained
an honors degree in Laws from the University of Birmingham
in England in 1987. Mr. Chow was admitted as a solicitor of
the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1990 and has been in
private practice since then. Currently, Mr. Chow is a Partner of
King & Wood, Solicitors. Mr. Chow serves as an independent
non-executive director of CCT Tech International Limited and
REXLot Holdings Limited, companies whose shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, Edmund, aged 49, joined the Board
on 13 February 2006. He is a Practising Certified Public
Accountant in Hong Kong and a Chartered Accountant in
the United Kingdom. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of The Association of Certified Public Accountants and
an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales.

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, aged 43, joined the Board on 30 April
2006. He holds a Bachelor degree in Business Administration
with honors and a Master of Science degree in Corporate
Governance and Directorship. He is a fellow member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. Mr. Chan is a certified public accountant.
Mr. Chan has extensive experience in accounting, taxation,
financial management, corporate finance and corporate
governance. Mr. Chan was an executive director of Kong
Sun Holdings Limited from February 2007 to November
2009, Amax Holdings Limited from August 2005 to January
2009 and China E-Learning Group Limited from July 2007
to September 2008 and is currently a non-executive director
of New Times Energy Corporation Limited, an independent
non-executive director of Rojam Entertainment Holdings
Limited, Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited, Superb Summit
International Timber Company Limited, China Gogreen
Assets Investment Limited, China Grand Forestry Green
Resources Group Limited, The Hong Kong Building and Loan
Agency Limited and Richly Field China Development Limited,
companies whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.
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EERSREEAEBERBT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Hung Hing Man, aged 40, joined the Board on 31 March
2009. He holds a Masters degree in Business Administration
from the University of Western Sydney. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an
associate member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong
and a member of the Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors. Mr. Hung is currently a proprietor of a certified public
accountants firm. He has over 13 years of working experience
in corporate finance, accounting, auditing and taxation sectors.
Mr. Hung was an independent non-executive director of SMI
Corporation Limited from July 2009 to December 2009 and
is currently an independent non-executive director of Madex
International (Holdings) Limited and China Star Investment
Holdings Limited, companies whose shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Chun Lam, aged 38, is the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Chan holds a
Bachelor Degree of Business Administration in Accounting
with honors from Hong Kong Baptist University. He is a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has over 15 years of professional
experience in financial management and auditing.

Ms. Chan Wai Pu, Michelle, aged 39, is the Director of
Corporate Development and Investor Relations of the
Company. Ms. Chan holds a Master Degree of Finance in
Investment Management from The Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology and a Bachelor degree of Arts
from The University of Hong Kong. She has over 15 years
experience in the financial industry and over 10 vyears
experience in the field of investor relations. Prior to joining the
Company, she had worked for a number of Hong Kong listed
companies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT #H¥EREHE

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31
March 2010.

Good corporate governance has always been recognized
as vital to the Group’s success and to sustain development
of the Group. We commit ourselves to a high standard of
corporate governance and have devoted considerable efforts
to identifying and formulating corporate governance practices
appropriate to the Company’s needs.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices
to meet the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the "CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as promulgated
by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange”). The Group has complied with the CG Code
provisions that are considered to be relevant to the Group
save for certain deviations from the CG Code, details of which
will be explained in the relevant paragraphs in this report.
The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure that these continue to meet the
requirements of the CG Code.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the
Company are summarized as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic
decisions and performances and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes
responsibility for decision making in all major matters of
the Company including: the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, the setting of objectives and overall strategies,
material transactions (in particular those may involve conflict
of interests), appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. The day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Company are delegated
to the senior executives. Approval has to be obtained from
the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by
these senior executives and the Board has the full support of
them to discharge its responsibilities.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Responsibilities (continued)

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the
professional advisers, as and when required, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company's expense, upon making request to the Board.

Composition

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance
of skills and experience desirable for effective leadership of
the Company and independence in decision making.

The Company has met the recommended best practice under
the CG Code for the Board to have at least one-third of its
members comprising independent non-executive directors.

The Board of the Company as at the date of this report
comprises the following directors:

Executive director:
Mr. Ho Chi Ho

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren

Mr. Chow Siu Ngor (Member of Audit Committee & Member
of Remuneration Committee)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, Edmund (Chairman of Audit Committee &
Member of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Member of Audit Committee & Chairman
of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Hung Hing Man (Member of Audit Committee & Member
of Remuneration Committee)
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THE BOARD (continued)

Composition (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant
to the Listing Rules from time to time.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive director of his independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive directors
to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of directors are laid down in the Company’s Bye-laws.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

Code Provision A.4.2 stipulates that all directors appointed
to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election
by shareholders at the first general meeting after their
appointment and that every director, including those appointed
for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.

Save for Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, Edmund, none of the
independent non-executive directors is appointed for a specific
term. Pursuant to the Company's Bye-laws, all directors of the
Company, regardless of his/her term of appointment, if any,
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. Whereas pursuant to the company's Private Act enacted
in Bermuda, managing director of the company shall not be
subject to retirement by rotation.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors
(continued)

Under the existing Bye-laws, new director appointed to fill a
casual vacancy shall be subject to re-election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after his/her appointment and all
directors including Chairman (save for Managing Director) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

Though the Company has not set up a nomination committee,
the Board reviewed its own structure, size and composition
regularly to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of
the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry
out the selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity
and time commitments of the proposed candidates, the
Company's needs and other relevant statutory requirements
and regulations. An external recruitment agency may be
engaged to carry out the recruitment and selection process
when necessary.

In accordance with the Company's Bye-laws, Mr. Ho Chi
Ho, executive director, and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, Edmund,
independent non-executive director, shall retire by rotation
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
2010 annual general meeting. Detailed information of the
directors standing for re-election are contained in a circular to
be dispatched to the shareholders of the Company.

Training for Directors

Each newly appointed director received comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so as to
ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he is fully aware of
his responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

The directors have access to seek professional advice on legal
and regulatory developments at the Company’s expenses
whenever feel necessary.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Remuneration of Directors

The remuneration committee was set up on 20 July 2006. The
committee was responsible for reviewing the remuneration
policy and packages of the directors and senior executives and
made recommendations about their proposals to the Board
which were determined by reference to the performance
of the individuals and the Group and market practices and
conditions on the basis of retaining and motivating executives
to pursue the growth and development of the Group.

Board and Board Committee Meetings

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals for reviewing and
approving the financial and operating issues, and considering
and approving the overall strategies and policies of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, 13 Board meetings
(2 of which are regular Board meetings); 2 Audit Committee
meetings and 1 Remuneration Committee meeting were held.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board and Board Committee Meetings (continued)
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance (continued)
The individual attendance record of each director at the

B8 %)

EXERERZEEER(H)
BRABITAEREFLFF (F)
BE_T-THE-_A=+t—BLFE" &

meetings of the Board, Audit Committee and Remuneraton ZEEHFEEES BERZESLFTMZE
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2010 is set out B &@#% 2 @RI H M T -
below:
Attendance/Number
of Meetings held
HEE
SRETRY

Audit Remuneration
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee
EEnE e EREES FWESS
Executive Director HITEF
— Mr. Ho Chi Ho - fAEREE 12/13 N/ATjiE N/AE
Non-executive Directors HHITEFE
— Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren - HE#EE 12/13 N/ATE A N/ATE A
— Mr. Chow Siu Ngor - BNELE 13/13 2/2 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors ¥  #77Z F
— Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, Edmund - mEELELE 9/13 2/2 1/1
— Mr. Chan Chi Yuen -BREEREE 10/13 2/2 1/1
— Mr. Hung Hing Man - LB k. 13/13 2/2 1/1
Practices and Conduct of Meetings ﬁ%%“;ﬁ};ﬁ%‘-ﬁu

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting
are normally made available to directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors
at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Practices and Conduct of Meetings (continued)

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information are sent to all directors at least 3 days
before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the
directors apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Company and to enable them to make
informed decisions. All directors are given an opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings. The
Board and each director also have separate and independent
access to the senior executives in order to ensure that the
directors receive adequate, complete and reliable information
in a timely manner and appropriate briefing on issues arising
at Board meetings.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details
of matters considered and decisions reached are kept by
secretary of the meetings and open for inspection by the
directors.

The Company's Bye-laws contain provisions requiring directors
to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum
at meetings for approving transactions in which such directors
or any of their associates have a material interest.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual.

The Company does not at present have a Chairman nor a
Chief Executive Officer. Nevertheless, the main duties and
responsibilities of a Chairman and a Chief Executive Officer are
currently held by separate individuals with written guidelines
for the division of responsibilities with a view to maintaining
an effective segregation of duties between the management
of the Board and the day-to-day management of the Group's
business and operations.

The Company will continue to review the effectiveness of
the Group's corporate governance structure and consider the
appointment of a Chairman of the Board and a Chief Executive
Officer if candidates with suitable leadership, knowledge, skills
and experience can be identified within or outside the Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established two committees, namely,
the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs. Both
Board committees are established with defined written terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees
are available to shareholders upon request.

All the members of each Board committee are independent
non-executive directors and non-executive directors and the
list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is
set out under “Composition” of this report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company's expenses.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors and one non-executive director. One
meeting was held during the year ended 31 March 2010.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee
include reviewing, making recommendations on and approving
the remuneration policy and structure and remuneration
packages of the executive directors and the senior executives.
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for
establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined
by reference to the performance of the individual and the
Group as well as market practice and conditions. The Human
Resources Department is responsible for collection and
administration of the human resources data and making
recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for
consideration. The Remuneration Committee shall consult
the Board and the management of the Company about these
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors and one non-executive director (including
at least one independent non-executive director who
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise). None
of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of
the Company's existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
qualified accountant, internal auditor or external auditors
before submission to the Board.

(b) To review the relationship with the external auditors
by reference to the work performed by the auditors,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2010 to review the financial results and
reports, financial reporting and compliance procedures, report
on the Company's internal control and risk management
review and processes and the re-appointment of the external
auditors.

There is no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation
or dismissal of external auditors.

BEEZEE (&)

EREEE
ERZEQRR-RBIUFRTEE R~
FHBTER(BREL - RABEEER
BRAETHEEMBEEEXNE 2
VIFRTES) BERZBEEHMETMAMN
BERARARKINEZBE TSR
A o

EZEZBG FEREBETI®IE

(a) %%ﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁ TRIERESE
CHERETMBAEERGR - R
e N BAMEE 2 F 2
K AESEIEE o

(b) 2ZEZHEETZIE Mekz
HE {5 ke o E OIS AZ BB 2 BE R
ITfL%T?E B R A MBI AZ R
RMEEFSRBEH-

(0 BERARAPBHRERR  NEE
ERGLEREEZFNLERIERF
ZEER BN -

BE_T-ZF=R=+—HILFE &
REEBGHBTTMREH  UEHUB
XELHE  UBmEREIRERF - A
BN ARR 2 AR EERERE R
BN B2 K BT & NS AR BLAD

jﬁﬁﬁiﬁ?\%ﬁﬂZ%ﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁ?ﬁ DIEIY33)

EN/NIPF FRBEKZEBZEX
R ©

EEEE%QI\H%V%(EM: /EEHE

27




28

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2010

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ®H¥EE®mE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and
the Company’s external auditors the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing,
internal control and financial reporting process including the
review of the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2010.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the directors and the
directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2010.

The Company has not established written guidelines for
securities transactions by employees (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”) who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
price-sensitive information of the Company. Steps are being
taken to adopt the Employees Written Guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code.

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures required
under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2010.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on page 39 of
the annual report.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has not formed Nomination Committee.
According to the bye-laws of the Company, the Company may
from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a director to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board. The Board also has the power to
appoint any person to be a director to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board and such appointment shall be
subject to shareholders” approval in general meeting.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditors of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 March 2010 amounted to
HK$1,000,000 and HK$35,000 respectively.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding
a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings are contained
in the Company's Bye-laws. Details of such rights to demand
a poll were included in the circular to shareholders in relation
to the holding of general meetings of the Company and
explained during the proceedings of such meetings.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board.

Separate resolutions were proposed at 2009 annual general
meeting on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior executives
maintain regular dialogue with institutional investors
and analysts to keep them abreast of the Company's
developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to
the Company at the principal place of business in Hong Kong
for any inquiries.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

To protect its assets and to ensure the accuracy and reliability
of the financial information that the Company employs in its
business or releases to the public, the Company conducts
regular reviews of the effectiveness of the Group's internal
controls. The scope of these reviews includes, among
others, finance, operations, regulation compliance and risk
management.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT E=

The directors present their annual report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 6 to
the financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 41.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31
March 2010 are set out in note 44 to the financial statements.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

As announced by the Company on 21 September 2009,
the Board proposed that the name of the Company be
changed from “Premium Land Limited” to “China Gamma
Group Limited” and the adoption of the Chinese name "/
B HNIEEE AR AR" as secondary name of the Company
to replace the Chinese name "L/BXEEMAERAR)"
(which was adopted for identification purpose only) (the
“Change of Company Name"). The special resolution relating
to the Change of Company Name was duly passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting
held on 19 October 2009. Upon the approval by the Registrar
of Companies in Bermuda on the Change of Company Name
having been obtained, the Change of Company Name has
become effective on 19 October 2009. The stock short
names for trading in the shares of the Company on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited have been changed from
“PREMIUM LAND" to “CHINA GAMMA" in English and from
"EBREEEH" to "REIMNIE" in Chinese with effect from 18
November 2009.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

82,750,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each were issued and
allotted during the year upon exercise of share options granted
by the Company.

During the year, the Company issued 2,250,545,192 bonus
shares to the qualifying shareholders on the basis of four (4)
bonus shares for every one (1) then existing share by way of
capitalization from the Company's share premium account.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive director:
Mr. Ho Chi Ho
Non-executive directors:

Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
Mr. Chow Siu Ngor

Independent Non-executive directors:

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, Edmund
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
Mr. Hung Hing Man

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-law 87(2), Mr. Ho Chi
Ho and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, Edmund will respectively retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2010, the interests of the directors and their
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations, as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ"), or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in
the Company
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Percentage of the

Number of issued share capital
Name of Director Type of interest shares held of the Company
EARTE BT
EEnA Ez E Al FrERBEE e N=R
Hung Hing Man Beneficial owner 2,500,000 0.09%
FLEX EaFBA
Share options BRE

Percentage of the

Number of share issued share capital

Name of Director Type of interest options held of the Company

EARAT BT

ESHE R ER FrisBBREE BRABT DL

Ho Chi Ho Beneficial owner 243,000,000 8.47%
fAExR EmfFBA

Ma Kwok Hung, Warren Beneficial owner 2,500,000 0.09%
55 B EaFEA

Chow Siu Ngor Beneficial owner 2,500,000 0.09%
BN E EmFAA

Wong Hoi Kuen, Edmund Beneficial owner 2,500,000 0.09%
=G EmfFBA

Chan Chi Yuen Beneficial owner 2,500,000 0.09%
BREE E=mFEA

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as at 31 March 2010.

BRENEBEN RZTE—FF=A=+—
B EFAREIBEALIHERARAF K
HALMAREOAE 2 Bty ~ HEARGD REERE

FHEATAESEIORE
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SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out

in note 33 to the financial statements.

The movements in the share options granted under the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on 24 April 2002
(the “Scheme”) during the year ended 31 March 2010 are

Bl

ARRZBIREREIFERS SR HRE

MEE33 ©

BE_T-TF-A=+—HLFE &
BARAATR-_ZEZZ -4 A =+ BN
ZEREFE (T BEHz2BERESR

shown below: BT
Number of options
BhREZR
Weighted average
closing price
of the shares
immediately before
the respective
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Date of Exercise date on which
Category of 1 April during during during 31 March gantof  priceper  Exercisable the options
participant 2009 the year the year the year 2010 share options share period were exercised
BERREEGR
SRR igme 3 5/%:2 Ro%-2f Eki B T AEARA
BA-R  FARE  FARE FAAN ZAZt-R RHAH &R g8 NETEUGE
(Note 2) (Note 3)
(i) (Wit3)
(HKS) (HKS)
(B7) (B1)
Director
g2
Ho Chi Ho 7,500,000 - - (7500,000) - 06/03/2007 02244 06/03/2007 - -
W% 0/03/2010
18,000,000 - - - 18,000,000 17/09/2007 02420 17/09/2007 - -
16/09/2010
225,000,000 - - 225000000  11/05/2009 00730 31/07/2009 - -
10/05/2012
(Note 1)
(Witi)
Ma Kwok Hung, Warren - 2,500,000 - - 2500000 16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - -
Bk 15/09/2012
Chow Siu Ngor - 2,500,000 - - 2500000 16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - -
BE 15/09/2012
Wong Hoi Kuen, Edmund - 2,500,000 - - 2500000 16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - -
L 15/09/2012
Chan Chi Yuen - 2,500,000 - - 2500000 16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - -
Rz 15/09/2012
Hung Hing Man - 2500000 (2,500,000) - - 16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - 0.1862
AEX 15/08/2012
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued) BREE
Number of options
EREHA

Weighted average
closing price
of the shares
immediately before
the respective
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Date of Exercise date on which
Category of 1 April during during during 31 March gantof  priceper  Exercisable the options
participant 2009 the year the year the year 2010 share options share period were exercised
BRBRERGE
SRR e IR N-%-2% RhE 8k Pkitd AR
BA-A ERRL ERfrE ERg%  =A=t-A RinH ik 8 DETOUTE

(Note 2) (Note 3)

(i) (Hi3)
(HK8) (449
(#7) (#7)

Others

Hfh

Employees - 20,600,000  (20,100,000) - 500000 16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - 0.1862

8 15/09/2012

Other elighle participants 59,200,000 - (56,150,000)  (3,050,000) - 05/06/2006 0.0540  05/06/2006 - 0.0797

EHAERAEA 04/06/2009

63,000,000 - (63,000,000) - - 11/10/2006 0.0646  11/10/2006 - 0.1243
10/10/2009

- 108,000,000  (54,000,000) - 54000000  16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - 0.1862
15/09/2012

Total 147700000 366,100,000 (195,750,000)  (10,550,000) 307,500,000

B

Notes: Hist -

1. These 225,000,000 share options are vested in four tranches 1, 225,000,000 B B% # 9 10 & &6 15
with (i) 20% exercisable on 31 July 2009; (i) 20% exercise -1 B (D200 — T NF £
on the date immediately after the expiry of the 9th month A=+—8Aa 17 ; (ii)200%% & B %
of the date of grant (i.e. 11 February 2010); (iii) 30% HHEENEA Eﬁé BE(AN == —
exercisable on the date immediately after the expiry of the TFE A+ —H8) /176 (1ii)30%%
15th month of the date of grant (i.e. 11 August 2010); and ZEEREHPETREAEMEZ B H
(iv) 30% exercisable on the date immediately after the expiry (fI=—=—=F N\NA+—8) AJ47{F
of the 21st month of the date of grant (i.e. 11 February K (iV)300% R BRI H B EE — +— (@
2011). REmERB(AI -2 ——F= -

H) AT ©

2. The issue of bonus shares on the basis of four (4) bonus 2. BOTAR(EEAEREE—(0)BRESR
shares for every one (1) existing share (the “Bonus Issue”) XM ERITIM(ARAR) BN —ZZ AR
became effective from 19 October 2009. Accordingly, F+AFTABES - BEilt - ADF SR
adjustments were made to the number of share options RS A T R T B AR R
outstanding which was previously granted by the Company to BEEHAREARE -
the option holders.

3. The exercise price per share was adjusted upon the Bonus 3 FARBETR_ZZNF+AT AL
Issue becoming effective on 19 October 2009. WK SREOZTEEEERREE
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2010, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO shows that the following shareholders had notified the
Company of relevant interests in the share capital of the
Company:

Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in
the Company

EEREROUBEHRISF 2 EF

B EXRBEES  ARBHEAEAHER
ARAFEAYEZ2ETMNLH  HSA
NAEFAIEBBAR QB A EAMEA
EEg s B REEEMER -

FERR
RZZE-—ZF=ZA=+—B BEXRAR
BEAFRBAEKRAZZEGEFEZFERR

ERMAR THRRSOEAAARS
WA A TR 2 HBFI2E

REQATEREEIIBTEERZHERE

Percentage of
the issued share

Number of issued capital of
Name of shareholder Type of interest ordinary shares held the Company
e T HARRAR D BT
BREEE HAE = ER EEREE & NER e d
Mega Market Assets Limited Beneficial owner 665,097,585 23.19%
EmfFFA A (Note) (K1)
Chan How Chung, Victor Beneficial owner/interest 682,647,585 23.80%
PR 2 BE of controlled corporation (Note) (B17%)
ERiFAAN/ ZHEEEER
Note: et -

Mega Market Assets Limited, which directly owned 665,097,585
shares in the Company, is beneficially wholly owned by Mr. Chan
How Chung, Victor. As at 31 March 2010, Mr. Chan had a personal
interest in 17,550,000 shares, representing 0.61% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been
notified of any other relevant interests or short positions in the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2010.

Mega Market Assets Limited B #4548 A2 7%
19665,097,585% * L AR AREFRELERE
BEE N E—ZTFE=ZF=+—H BRELH
B17,550,000 0 2 B A#z - IEARRAIE
BHITIRA0.61% °

R EEN R_F—FTF=A
=t —H ARBREHRED BITRAE
BEMEMERTRIORR Z@A -
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the vyear, the aggregate turnover attributable to the
Group's five largest customers were less than 30% of the
Group's turnover for the year. Purchases from the Group's five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 76% of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 72%.

None of the directors, or any of their associates or any other
shareholders, which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital,
had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest suppliers
during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set
up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence. The emoluments of the directors of the
Company are decided by the Board, as authorized by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting, having regard
to the Group's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to directors and eligible employees, details of which
are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

FEXGRESCERGHNER

RAFEERFAANFEERITMEFR > K
RABEEHMERARRSHETMAHER
AERERCERZANTERIEEAR
EWN:Fo i

TEEFRHER

RAFEE  KREBERAEFLFILEXE
AHEIVDNAEBAFE & ETFEI0%  §
AEEERAAREE KB REEAFER
HEBE2H76%  MERKREAHER
ZHRBRE(NHT72% -

FA BEFIARSFEEEABEALSL
EAEMBRR (MESMAMAEE AT
E#HTRASWA LE) IERANEEZ
TAKEETHEA (I TS

BE -HEFWEEAQFT LS
& 5

RAERE AR FREAEANBRT
BEBE e RBEEARFEE L
T .

N BUR

AEBREZHFMBRIIBEFTSRNS
ZWE - BERTEFTE - ARAREFZ
M DTHEFERBRNBREFKE
P Rt hAKEZEXRSE AAR
BN ELRTISEIREIRE

ARFRIERABRESS  ERHESK
BERER ZEE  FRENMHREN
33 e
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Good corporate governance has always been recognized
as vital to the Group's success and to sustain development
of the Group. We commit ourselves to a high standard of
corporate governance and have devoted considerable efforts
to identifying and formulating corporate governance practices
appropriate to the Company’s need.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices
to meet the code provisions that are considered to be
relevant to the Group and has complied with most of the
code provisions save for certain deviations from the code
provisions, details of which will be explained in the relevant
paragraphs in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
19 to 30. The Company periodically reviews its corporate
governance practices to ensure that these continue to meet
the requirements of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31 March 2010.

AUDITOR

Ting Ho Kwan & Chan retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for re-
appointment of Ting Ho Kwan & Chan as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Ho Chi Ho
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 July 2010

BrBEER

ARAZARAASBREEVIGEEE
BER G REARAARRABR
B HIIR 2 HEF RN -

ERER

AEB-—BERRREZEEE RN ALH
BRI RFEER AR BB NERS
IKFZEEERLBRAL N MHIE
HEARRAEBBEZLEERER -

ARREEWEREATR LA EAKR
SE MR SRS BRE TR B 57 Al
X WHREBIOEFEIOAE 2B EE AR
SEREREHREZFBI ARAEE
SPREBD 2 5T AR - AR B E i s B
CEREARRUBRESESENTAS LD
MAIMSR14 2 EEREREHR TR ZMRE

EERRERE

ARARBE_ZT-ZTF=ZA=1+—HL
FE-BHEBBRARTRARETHRE -

¥ B4 B

THRAREMITEE AEERA
REBEEL - EERRBFAS L
HiRE-BRZRER T WEKRS
FIESWEVINNGCIE 2 ¢

REREFE

BITEE
SR

EE —T-TFLA-+tH
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TING HO KWAN & CHAN
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS (PRACTISING)

9th Floor, Tung Ning Building
249-253 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA GAMMA GROUP LIMITED
(FORMERLY PREMIUM LAND LIMITED)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of China Gamma Group Limited (formerly Premium Land
Limited) (the “Company”) set out on pages 41 to 154, which
comprise the consolidated and the Company balance sheets
as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility
includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

BHEMBEERRAA
(I ELEBRBEBEHBRAT) KRR
(RERZZMALZHRLAE])

AZEMETKEZTBEMBEEEAR
AE (A EERBELABRAG)(TER
A HNELIIBEEF 1548 2656 M B®
X BRERZZE—ZEF=ZA=+—HZ&K
ek BRAIEEBEXR BHEZALF
EziFealak HFerEWREER  Fa
@R MEARASTRER  UKEKX
FHBERBMERECHAMT -

EERUBBERAREZEL

BERREFZFARERBEEBGHMAER
2z EBMBRELENRBEB ARG Z
BERERENEE MR 2 510t 8 55
HR - WEEBERA  BELEEER
HEEEMAFHEINTHRERBENA
EREE - UEMBHRR I FEARKFFRL
ERMERMERBRRL - EBENER
HEZEREE REEAMELAEZE
HEE -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and true and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
the Group as at 31 March 2010 and of the loss and cash
flows of the Group for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ting Ho Kwan & Chan
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Hong Kong, 27 July 2010

BB 2 B
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

melmk

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEFE

2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNEF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FET FAT
(Restated)
(4 E31)
Turnover EERE 7 3,762 3,902
Other revenue and H At U A R Wz
gains (losses), net (B18)  F& 7 48,745 (18,268)
52,507 (14,366)
Cost of sales SHE K AR 10 (1,880) (3,259)
Administrative expenses THEA (72,408) (46,430)
Impairment loss on Hib B ERIA 2
other receivables, net WERE  FRE 8 (24,924) (4,095)
Impairment loss on goodwill EE R E R - (7,609)
Loss from operations ZEEE (46,705) (75,759)
Finance costs BLE KA 9 (1,222) (3,053)
Loss before taxation BR A% AT BT 18 10 (47,927) (78,812)
Taxation g 12 (3,305) -
Loss for the year REFEEBE (51,232) (78,812)
Attributable to: AT AL RS -
Equity holders of the Company RATERFEBA 13 (51,194) (78,812)
Minority interests DB R (38) -
(51,232) (78,812)
Basic loss per share FRARRQAER
attributable to the equity holders  #5H AL &%
of the Company during the year — EAEE 14 (1.84) centsi#fill  (2.95) cents/&{ll

The notes on pages 49 to 154 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

W BA0TE 1548 2 Wi B EEA Bt
iRz — 85 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME #&Z2HEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE_Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE

2010 2009
e —ETNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Loss for the year KEEFHIE (51,232) (78,812)
Other comprehensive income: HAth 2 E A -
Exchange differences arising BMEBINERS
from translation of M HRREEZ
financial statements of MEH ERE
foreign operations 199 602
Total comprehensive loss RNEFEHEEBERE
for the year (51,033) (78,210)
Attributable to: AT AT RS -
Equity holders of the Company RARERFFAEA (50,995) (78,210)
Minority interests DERCRE (38) -
Total comprehensive loss REELHEEEERE
for the year (51,033) (78,210)

The notes on pages 49 to 154 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

MR BA0TE 1548 2 Wi B EEA B
Bz — 85 -
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET #ZRe&E&SFER

At 31 March 2010
RZE—ZFF=-A=+—H
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FHET
Non-Current Assets JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment Mm% - BB K& EB 15 22,770 1,898
Investment properties KEMZE 16 50,967 -
Land use rights + 3h 5 A A 17 12,136 -
Goodwill BES 18 23,592 -
Available-for-sale financial assets A HELREE 20 - 2,268
Deposits paid for acquisition of W B BT B A RIFT T 2
subsidiaries biegora 21 - 83,682
Investment deposits KE®RSE 22 - 30,000
109,465 117,848
Current Assets MENVEE
Inventories EA=y 23 375 6,388
Properties under development BERPWE 24 40,110 -
Trade and other receivables BUKE 5 & EMERIE 25 12,008 54,942
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABR
through profit or loss TREEE 26 7,679 6,465
Cash and cash equivalents BeNIR&EREIER 27 7,218 9,373
67,390 77,168
Current Liabilities MBEE
Trade and other payables B2 5 KR EMARIE 28 34,973 22,768
Amount due to a minority FETHE A A
shareholder of a subsidiary DI FRIE 29 18,985 16,242
Bank borrowings RITEE 30 7,393 25,601
61,351 64,611
Net Current Assets RBEEFE 6,039 12,557
Non-Current Liabilities JEMEAE
Deferred taxation EIEFL I 31 6,347 -
Net Assets BEFE 109,157 130,405

__ 43




44

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2010

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET #ZRe&E&[ERX

At 31 March 2010
R-Z-FFZA=+-A
2010 2009
—E-2F —ZETNF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
gz FHET FHET
Equity s
Capital and reserves attributable to A2 Rz 15 A A B
the Company’s equity holders: BARRfEE
Share capital (L&Y 32 28,677 5,344
Share premium WeAn 5 B 591,839 593,840
Other reserves Em A 34 785,140 784,079
Accumulated losses ZEtEE (1,303,114) (1,252,858)
102,542 130,405
Minority interests DB R 6,615 -
Total Equity AR 109,157 130,405

The financial statements on pages 41 to 154 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 July
2010 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ho Chi Ho Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
fAEE S E
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF

The notes on pages 49 to 154 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

Bz 2 — 810 o
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BALANCE SHEET EB¥E&fE*

At 31 March 2010
RZE—ZFF=-A=+—H
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M FET FHET

Non-Current Assets JERENEE

Property, plant and equipment Mm% - BB K& EB 15 289 140

Interests in subsidiaries AL NG S 19 88,229 118,033

88,518 118,173

Current Assets MBEE

Other receivables H b e AR IE 25 104 225

Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEFEER 27 1,922 301

2,026 526

Current Liabilities nENAE

Other payables H qth fE 1 AR IE 28 5,579 5,669
Net Current Liabilities mENBEFE (3,553) (5,143)
Net Assets BEFE 84,965 113,030
Capital and Reserves BARR#E

Share capital L@ 32 28,677 5,344

Reserves B 34 56,288 107,686
Total Equity HEiRRe 84,965 113,030

Ho Chi Ho Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
LCIFE SEH#
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE EE

The notes on pages 49 to 154 are an integral part of these

financial statements.

HREAOEF 1548 2 M 5T At F 8%
R2Z—E15 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #ZegEmgdx
For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_Z-—SF=ZA=+—RHILFE
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ADRREREARL
Share
Share  premium Other Accumulated Minority
capital ~ account  reserves losses Total interests Total
k& REGEER  HtRE  RiER BE JURRREE ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk ThL Fhr THx Thx Fhr T
Balance at 1 April 2008 RZET)\EMA-Az&R 5344 593,840 783477 (1,174046) 208,615 - 208,615
Total comprehensive (loss) income ~ AEE2E (BiE) WALE
for the year - - 602 (78812)  (78,210) - (78210)
Balance at 31 March 2009 and R-ZENFZA=1-HEK
1 April 2009 “SENEMA-BEY 5344 593840 784079 (1252858) 130405 - 130405
Total comprehensive (loss) income ~ AEE2E (F%E) WALE
for the year - - 199 (51,194)  (50,995) (38)  (51,033)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEREBAR - - - - - 6,653 6,653
Share options granted Rit e - - 7,144 - 7,144 - 7,144
Bonus issue of shares ¥R 2505 (22,505) - - - - -
Exercise of share options TR ERE 828 20,504 (5344) - 15,988 - 15,988
Transfer on lapse of share options ~ EREXHEER - - (938) 938 - - -
Balance at 31 March 2010 RZE-TE-A=t-HzER 28677 591,839 785140 (1303.114) 102542 6615 109,157
The notes on pages 49 to 154 are an integral part of these N F49EF 1548 2 M AL 4481

consolidated financial statements.

Bz 2 — 810 o



D EMIBEEBEER~LN ST 2010 £3]

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #HGREHE&EREX

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEFE

2010 2009
—E2-FF —EENF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
gz THET FAT
(Restated)
(g&=5)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KT
Loss from operations LiEEE (46,705) (75,759)
Adjustments for: ETHIEE R

Interest income FEUA 7 (53) (72)

Dividend income R EWA 7 (16) (2,831)

Depreciation of property, plant ME - BERRETE

and equipment 15 900 618
Amortisation of land use rights o i FR R 8 17 37 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BE LEE

plant and equipment 2 BB 10 - 168
Loss on disposal of investment HEREMEZER

properties 10 9 -
Impairment loss on goodwill BERERR = 7,609
Net realised (gains) losses on BATEFABRZI SR

financial assets at fair value BEZE#H ()

through profit or loss BiEFE 7 (33,819) 12,823
Net unrealised (gains) losses on BATEFABRZ

financial assets at fair value ERMEEIAER

through profit or loss (W) BB FE 7 (1,243) 8,948
Allowance for doubtful debts of FEWE HREZ B

trade receivables, net FER - 152
Reversal of allowance for doubtful ROEKESREBE

debts on trade receivables, net FEE 7 (6) -
Impairment loss on other receivables — H. i fE W AR 18 2 Rl E & 1B 32,966 4,095
Fair value changes of investment REME 2 A THEES

properties 7 (10,406) -
Acquisition-related cost of W BE B B A B 2 AE AR AR

subsidiaries 35 6,887 -

Share-based payment PARR 19 R BB 2 3R 7,144 -

Exchange differences BEBEEE 7 )
Operating cash outflows before BELGSHPA 2 KE

movements in working capital Bemd (44,298) (44,256)
Decrease in inventories FERL 6,126 447
Decreased (increase) in trade and RWE 5 L EMREA

other receivables A (38 0) 11,917 (13,191)
Net proceeds on disposal of HERDNTFEFABRZ

financial assets at fair value through & BEEZ 5

profit or loss RIEFE 33,848 7,846
Increase (decrease) in trade and FENE 5 R E M BRIE

other payables #m Cfd) 6,544 (2,292)
CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) R&E 8 Ff 18 (FiB)

OPERATION ACTIVITIES B 14,137 (51,446)
Overseas tax paid BAEINIIE (1) -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REEERE (FA)

(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES B 4% 14,136 (51,446)




48

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2010

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE_Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE

GeRTRER

2010 2009
—E2-FF —EENF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
gz TET FAT
(Restated)
(gg=5)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received BEHA S 7 53 72
Dividend received B B 7 16 2,831
Payment for the purchase of BEWE  BEREE
property, plant and equipment AN 15 (824) (118)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BB B A 7] 35 (47,251) -~
Deposit paid for acquisition of WEHRBARMNZZS
subsidiaries - (29,662)
Refund of (payment for) investment Rl () K& &S
deposits 30,000 (30,000)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BERREZ
plant and equipment PS5 31E = 399
Proceeds from disposal of HEAMHEEREEL
available-for-sale financial assets FT{S 508 2,268 -
Net proceeds from disposal of HEREME G
investment properties RIEFHE 188 -
Increase in available-for-sale AHE SR B AL
financial assets - (1,587)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZHMAREFRE
ACTIVITIES (15,550) (58,065)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMETE
New bank borrowings raised LRITES 7,393 5,102
Proceeds on exercise of share options 171 B i i 15 3018 15,988 -
Advance from a minority shareholder K& B A B D SRR
of a subsidiary 2B 2,743 3,455
Repayment of obligation under a BERMEHEARE
finance lease - (525)
Repayment of bank borrowings BERBITEE (22,748) (17,969)
Interest paid ERFE (1,222) (3,053)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM METERE(FA)
(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES B4 %% 2,154 (12,990)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN BeRBeEHER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #mORD) #8E 740 (122,501)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  FHIzBeRELEH
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 15H 6,448 128,502
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ExgHsooE
RATE CHANGES 30 447
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHRAZBREREALEH
END OF THE YEAR HE 27 7,218 6,448

The notes on pages 49 to 154 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

FNEAI9EE 1548 2 MERULFLRE M
BER 2 — 810 o



GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon
House, Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The
principal place of business of the Company is located at
Unit 3411, 34/F, COSCO Tower, Grand Millennium Plaza,
183 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
44.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRS"), which also include Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS") and Interpretations
(“Int") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
certain financial assets and investment properties which
are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in note 5.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS
that are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Group as follows:

D EMIBEEBEER~LN ST 2010 £3]

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEFE

—REH

ARABIIRBREZTMAL 2 EH R
BRRAR  EBRONETEBARSZHA
BRAR (TBRAT]) £ e

KRB EREEKRAT  dMHER
N Z & FE 3 Al L A Clarendon
House, Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda BB 2F RNBHF 1839
WRITES R R KE34EI41E - B
FEMBAR 2 EEZX£BINEHNH T
44 o

BB REREE

REBZZEEM BRI IDRBELY
BmEER (THFEMBEHRE L] -
TEEHEEStMAg([BESS
Bogl) Rz EBGHERN(THEE
gt kg (REl) &8 a
RET R REB ARG 2 WER
E) MRS - WEFBRRITFTAE
BHAXIMABRARES LHRA
ZERPBERAE BETEREER
BREMEDRAFEARN  HEH
BMBRERACRE L RAET AR
B o

RRETEB BV HRE LR 287
BEAKHBEREHAETRARSHEE
FAEEEEITENERAAEE S
BER 2 BRETEREHE 1 - FRE
SRREZHEHRERN 2 BB S R
HIFEMBHRERBEARK LA Z
M FTSNIEHREE -

EEEMASEREME TR AKE
GETEIE B R ERZ# ] MR ERT
HE B HE R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE_Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007)

HKAS 23 (Revised 2007)

HKAS 32 & 1
(Amendment)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27
(Amendment)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

Amendments to HKFRS 7,
Financial instruments

HKFRS 8
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13

Presentation of financial
statements
Borrowing costs

Puttable financial
instruments and
obligations arising on
liquidation

Improvements to HKFRSs
(2008)

Cost of an investment in
a subsidiary, jointly
controlled entity or
associate

Share-based payment
— vesting conditions
and cancellations

Disclosures — improving
disclosures about
financial instruments

Operating segments

Customer loyalty

programmes

Agreements for the
construction of
real estate

Hedges of a net
investment in a
foreign operation

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16

Note 4 summarise the accounting policies of the Group,
after the adoption of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group. The adoption of the
above new or revised HKFRS has no material effect on
how the results and financial position for the current
or prior accounting periods have been prepared and
presented except that the following set out information
on the significant changes in accounting policies for
the current and prior accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements. Accordingly, no prior period
adjustment has been made.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) - “Presentation of
Financial Statements”

As a result of the adoption of HKAS 1 (Revised
2007), details of changes in equity during the period
arising from transactions with equity shareholders
in their capacity as such have been presented
separately from all other income and expense in
a revised consolidated statement of changes in
equity. All other terms of income and expense are
presented in the consolidated income statement, if
they are recognised as part of profit or loss for the
period, or otherwise in a new primary statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
In addition, the “Cash flow statement” is renamed
as the “Statement of cash flows". Corresponding
amounts have been restated to conform to the new
presentation. This change in presentation has no
effect on reported profit or loss, total income and
expense or net assets for any period presented.
HKFRS 7 — “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”

As a result of the adoption of the amendments
to HKFRS 7, the financial statements include
expanded disclosures in note 40(d) about
the fair value measurement of the Company's
financial instruments, categorising these fair value
measurements into a three-level fair value hierarchy
according to the extent to which they are based
on observable market data. The Group has taken
advantage of the transitional provisions set out in the
amendments to HKFRS 7, under which comparative
information for the newly required disclosures about
the fair value measurements of financial instruments
has not been provided.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE_Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

©

(d)

HKFRS 8 — “Operating Segments”

HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that requires the
identification of operating segments to be performed
on the same basis as financial information that is
reported internally for the purpose of allocating
resources between segments and assessing their
performance. The predecessor standard, HKAS 14
“Segment Reporting”, required the identification of
two sets of segments (business and geographical)
using a risks and returns approach. In the past,
the Group's primary reporting format was business
segments. The application of HKFRS 8 has not
resulted in a redesignation of the Group's reportable
segments as compared with the reportable segments
determined in accordance with HKAS 14.

HKAS 27 (Amendments) - “Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements — Cost of
Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate”

The amendments to HKAS 27 have removed the
requirement that dividends out of pre-acquisition
profits should be recognised as a reduction in the
carrying amount of the investment in the investee,
rather than as income. As a result, as from 1 April,
2009, all dividends receivable from subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities, whether out
of pre- or post-acquisition profits, will be recognised
in the Company's profit or loss and the carrying
amount of the investment in the investee will be not
reduced unless that carrying amount is assessed to
be impaired as a result of the investee declaring the
dividend. In such cases, in addition to recognising
dividend income in profit or loss, the Company
would recognise an impairment loss. In accordance
with the transitional provisions in the amendment,
this new policy will be applied prospectively to any
dividends receivable in the current or future periods
and previous periods have not been restated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RacMicE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)
(e) HKFRS 2 (Amendment) — “Share-based Payment”

“Share-based Payment” deals with vesting conditions
and cancellations. It clarifies that vesting conditions
are service conditions and performance conditions
only. Other features of a share-based payment
are not vesting conditions. These features would
need to be included in the grant date fair value for
transactions with employees and others providing
similar services; they would not impact the number
of awards expected to vest or valuation there of
subsequent to grant date. All cancellations, whether
by the entity or by other parties, should receive the
same accounting treatment. The Group and the
Company have adopted HKFRS 2 (amendment)
from 1 April 2009. The amendment does not have
a material impact on the Group’s or Company’s
financial statements.

The Group has not early applied any new standard,
amendment or interpretation that has been issued but is
not yet effective for the current accounting period (see
note 3).

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2010 and which have not
been early adopted in these financial statements.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and new interpretations is expected to be in the period
of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the Group's results of operations and financial
position.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE_Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE

3. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010 (continued)

In addition, the following developments may result in new
or amended disclosures in the financial statements:

B RE AR AL

3. BE-_E—ZEF=RA=1+—
BEFEEEEMERERZ
] - FERRZE T8

/ -
SE )

o TR R A 85| B B EE R
IR S ST HE -

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part of improvements to
HKFRSs issued in 2008
HEARBRELNFES R BIAERR_TTNF

Bz HBBHBHRE RN 22— 87

BERBREER (BFT)

HKFRSs (Amendments)
BEMBREER ()

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009
R-ZTNFREM2HEBREREER 2 30E

HKFRSs (Amendments)
BAEMKRERER (BFT)

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010
R-Z-ZFEREMBzHERMBRELE 2 0L

HKAS 24 (Revised)

BRI ERE245 (KB

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008)

BE e ERR2TH
(ZZ2ZN\FEELT)

Related party disclosures

BEALIRE

Consolidated and separate financial statements
RARBILMBERE

HKAS 39 (Amendment)
BRI ERE39% (BF])
HKFRS 1 (Amendment)
BERBREENF 1% (BIT)
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
BEMBREERE2R (BF])
HKFRS 9
BERBREERFH

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18
BE(BERTBRERE
Z8E)-REFI18%

Eligible hedged items
SEREHER

Additional exemptions for first-time adopters
HERRBEZEIHRE

Group cash-settled share-based payment transactions
SENREEEURNDBER ZARR S

Financial instruments

eRITA

Transfers of assets from customers

REXFZEEER

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTBES 2%
Rz et BEEN

1 July 2009
“ZEZNFLA—H

1 July 2009 or 1 January 2010
“ERAELA-BR
—E-T5-A-H

1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011
“E-TELH-H

—E—%-A—H
1 January 2011
—T——%-A-H
1 July 2010
—T-FEF+A-H
1 July 2009

“EENFLA—H

1 January 2010

—Z-ZF-A-H
1 January 2010
—Z-TF-f—H
1 January 2013
“Z-=f-A—H
1 July 2009
“2ENFLA-A



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out

bel

(a

(b)

ow:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 March.

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company
has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than one half of the voting rights. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group controls another
entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the
Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date
of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent
of any minority interests. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share
of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in the income
statement.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE_Z-—ZF=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(b) Subsidiaries (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Minority interests represent the portion of the net
assets of subsidiaries attributable to interests that
are not owned by the Company, whether directly
or indirectly through subsidiaries, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional terms
with the holders of those interests which would
result in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that meets
the definition of a financial liability. Minority interests
are presented in the consolidated balance sheet
within equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Minority
interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated income statement
as an allocation of the total profit or loss for the
year between minority interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the
minority’s interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the
excess, and any further losses applicable to the
minority, are charged against the Group's interest
except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation to, and is able to, make additional
investment to cover the losses. If the subsidiary
subsequently reports profits, the Group's interest is
allocated all such profits until the minority’s share of
losses previously absorbed by the Group has been
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Subsidiaries (continued)

©

Loan from holders of minority interests and other
contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet in accordance with note 4(s)
depending on the nature of the liabilities.

In the Company's balance sheet the investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of
a business combination or an investment in an
associate over the Group's interest in the net fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business
combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit,
or groups of cash generating units, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination
and is tested annually for impairment (see Note 4(l)
below). In respect of associates, the carrying amount
of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of
the interest in the associate and the investment as
a whole is tested for impairment whenever there
is objective evidence of impairment (see Note 4(l)
below).

Any excess of the Group's interest in the net fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over the cost of a business
combination or an investment in an associate is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

On disposal of a cash generating unit and an
associate during the year, any attributable amount of
purchased goodwill is included in the calculation of
the profit or loss on disposal.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical

cost less accumulated depreciation and amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also
include transfers from equity of any gains/losses
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are expensed in the income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
residual value, if any, on a straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold building 20 years
Leasehold land and buildings 30 years
Leasehold improvements 2 years
Plant and machinery 3 — 20 years
Motor vehicles 4 — 6 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 — 10 years

Construction in progress represents buildings,
structures, plant and machinery and other fixed
assets under construction or installation and is
stated at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
direct costs of construction, installation and testing
as well as capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction or
installation. Construction in progress is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment or investment properties when completed
and ready for use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(e

®

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assets’ residual values (if any) and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date. An item of property, plant and
equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. The gain or
loss on derecognition of the asset, calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item, is included in profit
or loss in the period the item is derecognised.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Leasehold land and land use rights

Leasehold land and land use rights are lump sum
upfront payments to acquire long-term interest in
lessee-occupied properties. Leasehold land and land
use rights relating to buildings of the Group are
stated at cost and are amortised over the period of
the lease on the straight-line basis to the statement
of comprehensive income.

Investment properties

Investment properties, being properties owned or
held under finance leases to earn rentals are stated
in the balance sheet at fair value. Any gain or loss
arising from a change in fair value or from the
retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment properties is accounted for as described
in note 4(t)(iii).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an investment property is determined
as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss on the date of the
retirement or disposal.

D EMIBEEBEER~LN ST 2010 £3]

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEFE

4. TESTHHEBE B

d) W% BERRE(E)

(e

®

BEMRSKER(WE) LAER
FHESEEEBETRST &
HEEERARE WX BENMR
wEREEINHERNEBRRE
ERZEERTEELERREHE
MmN BER - R TBEAZ
BERELE ZElzmREE (A
HEMBREFREZAR 2R
HEZZ8EAE) i AR %A
BTBERFE2HEZRA -

FEENERAERREMGE AR
O EE  HREENRBREER
Bt A O S AR -

HELHR Lt ERE

HE L3N+ 3 MEREREA
RABEAGRAZYENRAES
RARNNEE HEL R LT
AR AEANA R REY RN
AR RN R AN IR B AROE
BEW I ALEEEWER °

REWME
KENFEERERMEEERB X
BEULRDESKRAZYE T
NAFEREEBERANIR -
REEMERNFEEZHARRE
MEZBEIHEMELE 2
A sk EEREERARER -
WEYER WA ZHERAHE
4@ (i it -

REREMEzBRESIHEMESE
ZEMBREIEBERDEERLE
PRSFRFHREEERMECE
B UNHmELERHRN B
AR RER ©

59




60

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2010

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE_Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leases

0,

(ii)

Operating lease (both as the lessee or the
lessor)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Where
the Group is the lessee, payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are expensed in the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating
leases are included in non-current assets and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are
credited to the income statement in a straight
line basis over the lease period.

Finance lease (as the lessee)

Leases of assets where the Group has
substantially obtained all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease's
commencement at the lower of the fair value
of the leased property and the present value
of the minimum lease payments. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant
rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in current and non-current
obligation under a finance lease. The interest
element of the finance cost is recognised in the
income statement over the lease period so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period. The investment properties acquired
under finance leases are carried at their fair
value, while the property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases are depreciated
over the shorter of the useful lives of the assets
or the lease terms.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€xHHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

(h) eREE

(h) Financial assets

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date when the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments
are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction
costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair
value through profit or loss are initially recognised at
fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the
statement of comprehensive income. At each balance
sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is any
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired, such as a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
in an equity investment below its costs. Financial
assets other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities are further
categorised into the following classifications for the
measurement after initial recognition.

(i) Other financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Investments in securities held for trading are
classified as other financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss included in current assets
and are stated in the balance sheet at fair value.
Derivatives are also categorised as held for
trading unless they are designated as hedges.
Any attributable transaction costs and gain or
loss on the fair value changes of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial assets (continued)
(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They arise when the Group provides
money, goods or services directly to a debtor
with no intention of trading the receivable.
They are included in current assets, except
for maturities greater than 12 months after
the balance sheet date which are classified
as non-current assets. The Group’s loans
and receivables comprise “Trade and other
receivables” and “Cash and cash equivalents” in
the consolidated balance sheet.

(i) Available-for-sale financial assets

Investments other than those held for trading
and held to maturity are classified as available-
for-sale financial assets and are stated in the
balance sheet at fair value. Gain or loss on fair
value changes of available-for-sale financial
assets is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity
in the fair value reserve, except for impairment
losses and foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from changes in the amortised cost of
monetary items such as debt securities which
are recognised directly in profit or loss.

When the available-for-sale financial assets are
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Where
the available-for-sale financial assets are interest-
bearing, interest calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€xHHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

(hy eMEE(2)
(i) AIHESBEE (B)

(h) Financial assets (continued)
(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)

When a decline in the fair value of an available-
for-sale financial asset has been recognised
in equity and there is objective evidence that
the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss is
recognised from equity to profit or loss even
though the financial assets has not been
derecognised.

The amount of the cumulative loss that is
removed from equity and reclassified to
profit or loss is the difference between the
acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment
and amortisation) and current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that financial assets
previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for
an investment in an equity instrument classified
as available-for-sale are not reversed through
profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the
fair value of such investment is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the fair value reserve.
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of
a debt instrument classified as available-
for-sale increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised in profit or
loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the
amount of the reversal recognised in profit or
loss. Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding investments directly.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial assets (continued)
(i) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)

Investments in unquoted equity instruments
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured
and derivatives that are linked to and must be
settled by delivery of such unquoted equity
instruments, are measured at cost less any
impairment losses. If there is objective evidence
that an impairment loss has been incurred on
such instrument, the amount of impairment
loss is measured as the difference between
its carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar
instrument. Such impairment losses are not
reversed.

Fair value of an instrument on initial recognition
is normally the transaction prices, unless it is
estimated by using a valuation technique when
part of the consideration given or received is for
something other than the investments.

After initial recognition, the fair value of an
investment quoted in an active market is based
on the current bid price and, for investments
not quoted in an active market, the Group
establishes the fair value of such investment by
using a valuation technique where appropriate.

Valuation techniques include using recent
arm’s length market transactions between
knowledgeable willing parties, if available,
reference to the current fair value of another
instrument that is substantially the same,
discounted cash flows analysis and option
pricing models.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

0)

0

Inventories

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the
acquisition cost, architect's fees and other direct
costs attributable to such properties.

Other inventories

Inventories mainly comprise building materials.
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated on weighted
average basis. Net realisable value is determined on
the basis of anticipated sales proceeds less estimated
selling expenses.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to estimated sales
proceeds of the properties sold in the ordinary course
of business less costs to complete development and
estimated selling expenses.

Development cost of properties comprises land
use right, construction costs, borrowing costs and
professional fees as incurred during the development
period. On completion, all development costs of the
properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(k) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at
fair value and, after initial recognition, at amortised
cost less any allowance for bad and doubtful debts,

except for the following receivables:

0)

interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting being immaterial, that are
measured at cost less any allowance for bad
and doubtful debts; and

short term receivables with no stated interest
rate and the effect of discounting being
immaterial, that are measured at their original
invoiced amount less any allowance for bad and
doubtful debts.

Impairment of assets

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables

Investment in equity securities (other than
investments in subsidiaries: see note (ii) below)
and other current and non-current receivables
that are stated at cost or amortised cost or
are classified as available-for-sale securities
are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
determine whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
— a breach of contract, such as a default

or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #§RakMicE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

0,

it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss
is determined and recognised as follows:

For unquoted equity securities carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the carrying amount
of the financial asset and the estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial
asset where the effect of discounting is
material. Impairment losses for equity
securities are not reversed.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)
() Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

For trade and other current receivables
and other financial assets carried at
amortised cost, the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition
of these assets), where the effect of
discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due
status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset's carrying amount exceeding that
which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RakMicE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)
() Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

For available-for-sale securities, the
cumulative loss that has been recognised
directly in equity is removed from equity
and is recognised in profit or loss. The
amount of the cumulative loss that is
recognised in profit or loss is the difference
between the acquisition cost (net of any
principal repayment and amortisation) and
current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that asset previously recognised in profit
or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or
loss in respect of available-for-sale equity
securities are not reversed through profit
or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair
value of such assets is recognised in other
comprehensive income.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE_T-ZF=-A=+—-BLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)

() Impairment of investments in equity securities

and other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade debtors included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the
allowance for impairment of bad and doubtful
debts are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade debtors and bills
receivable directly and any amounts held in
the allowance account relating to that debt are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly are recognised in profit or

loss.

(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify
indicators that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer

exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amounts);

— pre-paid interests in leasehold land
classified as being held under an operating

lease;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RakMicE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)

If any such indication exists,
recoverable amount is estimated.

investments in subsidiaries (except for
those classified as held for sale or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale); and

goodwill

the asset's
In addition,

for goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its net selling price and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of
time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash flows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. cash-generated unit).

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE_ZT-ZF=-A=1T—HLFE

4. TESTHHEBE B

() BEEREE)

(i) ﬁ\/ﬁéﬁz/@fﬁ(fﬂ
KRB AR ZIRE (&
RERBEFEHERR
SERERRSRAE
HERZZHEER)
K

- B

il

MRERBRETR - AlE
5T 7% & B 1) ] Y [o] 258 -
BESN - BLEEE - R A R E
ReBERWEENRABERA
ERFHZBLEEMS
AEFHAATIRE SR A
EERDFEEMBREIR

— ArEAKREEE

BEMNAIKRE AR
HEFBMEREEM
EhHBREmERE -E
AEEREER &1
P B A5 B AT 3R R 14 At
AERBREREFTRER
B ZITRXRERRBR
58RI B
KEEBEMZEENS
BRB MREEELT
BE B N E M E A A
EREHZRA B
BEMBMABILESL
RERMARNK/NERE
EEREEEEL) K
EEAWEEEE -

__ 71




2

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2010

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5sRacMiEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE_Z-—ZF=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)
— Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss whenever the carrying amount of an
asset, or the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generated units (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.

—  Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset's carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's
equity share capital (Treasury shares), the
consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted
from equity attributable to the Company's equity
holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or
disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently
sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of
any directly attributable incremental transaction costs
and the related income tax effects, is included in
equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.

D EMIBEEBEER~LN ST 2010 £3]

B REERAR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE_Z-—ZF=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(0)

(p)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
(if any) measured in accordance with note 4(s)(i),
trade and other payables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost except for the following payables:

— short-term payables with no stated interest rate
and the effect of discounting being immaterial,
that are measured at their original invoiced
amount; and

— interest free loans from related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting being immaterial, that are measured
at cost.

Bank and other borrowings

Bank and other borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or
disposal of a financial asset or financial liability,
including fees and commissions paid to agents,
advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory
agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer
taxes and duties. Bank and other borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method.

Bank and other borrowings are classified as current
liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the balance sheet date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RakMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE—_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€xHHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

(q) FEH

(q) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates (and
laws) enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, if the
deferred tax arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss,
it is not accounted for. The amount of deferred
tax is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010

BEC

—EFE=-A=+—HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(q) Income tax (continued)

Q)

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews and
assesses the recognised and unrecognised deferred
tax assets and the future taxable profit to determine
whether any recognised deferred tax assets should
be derecognised and any unrecognised deferred tax
assets should be recognised.

Deferred tax asset is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences is controlled by the Group and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Employee benefits

(i) Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution plans under
the mandatory provident fund scheme and
state-managed retirement benefits scheme are
charged as expenses as they fall due.

(i) Share-based compensation

For grants of share options that are conditional
upon satisfying specified vesting conditions, the
fair value of services received is determined
by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date and is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share
options reserve). At the balance sheet date, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to ultimately vest The
impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
share options reserve. For share options that are
vested at the date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed immediately
to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE—_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

4. TESTHHEBE B

(N BIEF(E)
() LURG BEREZ B8 (8)

(r) Employee benefits (continued)
(ii) Share-based compensation (continued)

At the time when the share options are
exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share options reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to accumulated losses.

(s) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities
(i)  Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (ie. the guarantor) to make specified
payment to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the "holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee,
the fair value of the guarantee (being the
transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade and
other payables. Where consideration is received
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in accordance
with the Group's policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial
recognition of any deferred income.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

0)

(ii)

Financial guarantees issued (continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised
as deferred income is amortised in profit or
loss over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued. In addition,
provisions are recognised in accordance with
note (iii) below if and when (i) it becomes
probable that the holder of the guarantee will
call upon the Group under the guarantee and
(i) the amount of that claim on the Group is
expected to exceed the amount currently carried
in trade and other payables in respect of that
guarantee, i.e. the amount initially recognised,
less accumulated amortisation.

Contingent liabilities acquired in business
combinations

Contingent liabilities acquired as part of a
business combination are initially recognised
at fair value, provided the fair value can be
reliably measured. After their initial recognition
at fair value, such contingent liabilities are
recognised at the higher of the amount initially
recognised, less accumulated amortisation
where appropriate, and the amount that would
be determined in accordance with note (iii)
below. Contingent liabilities acquired in a
business combination that cannot be reliably fair
valued are disclosed in accordance with note (jii)
below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RakMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE—_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€xHHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

() CBRHMBERESN BERS
REEE)
(i) AR mELLARE

(s) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)
(i) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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(t) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the

consideration received or receivable. iE e
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will flow to the Group and the revenue and the costs,
if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:
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(i) Revenue arising from gamma ray irradiation
services is recognised in the accounting period
in which the services are rendered.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(V)

W)

(vi)

Revenue arising from property management is
recognised in the accounting period in which the
services are rendered.

Rental income is recognised on a straight line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised
when the Group has delivered the relevant
properties to the purchaser and the collectability
of related receivable is reasonably assured.

When the renovation services are provided and
the outcome of the renovation project can be
estimated reliably, renovation service income
is recognised on the percentage of completion
method measured by reference to the value
of work carried out during the year. When the
outcome of a renovation project cannot be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of the project costs incurred that it is
probable will be recoverable.

Sales of building materials are recognised when
they are delivered and title has passed.

(vii) Realised gain or loss on investments held for

trading is recognised on a trade date basis whilst
unrealised gain or loss on investments held for
trading is recognised to restate to their fair value
on the balance sheet date.

(viii) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using

()

the effective interest method.

Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the Group's rights to receive payment
have been established prior to the balance sheet
date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(u) Foreign currencies translation

0,

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the
functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK dollars, which
is the Company's functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in income
statement, except those arising from foreign
currency borrowings used to hedge a net
investment in a foreign operation which are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary items,
such as equity instruments held at fair value
through profit or loss, are reported as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences
on non-monetary items, such as equities
classified as available-for-sale financial assets,
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the fair
value reserve.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(u) Foreign currencies translation (continued)

(iif) Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that balance sheet;

(b) income and expenses for each financial
statements are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

(o) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in exchange reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified from equity to profit
or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the year-end closing rate.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

v)

(w)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.

Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, to control
the Group or exercise significant influence over
the Group in making financial and operating
policies decisions, or has joint control over the
Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to common
control;

(i) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint
venture in which the Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's parent;
or a close family member of such an individual
or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals;

(v) the party is a close member of a party referred
to in (i) or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such
individuals; or
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(w) Related parties (continued)

®)

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of the Group, or of
any entity that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings
with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal to the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(i) Allowance for trade and other receivables
The Group makes allowance for bad and doubtful
debts based on an assessment of the recoverability
of trade and other receivables. Allowances are
applied to trade and other receivables where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be collectible. The identification
of impairment of bad and doubtful debts requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact carrying value of
receivables and allowances for impairment losses in
the period in which such estimate has been changed.

(ii) Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment, in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in note 4(l). The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units have been
determined based on value in use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates (note
18).

5.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(iii) Income taxes

Deferred tax asset in relation to the unused tax
losses of approximately HK$268,112,000 (2009:
HK$277,988,000) was not recognised in the Group's
consolidated balance sheet. The realisability of
the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual future profits generated are less
than expected, a material reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in the
income statement for the period in which such a
reversal takes place.

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax expenses in the year in which such
determination is made.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(iv) Estimate of fair value of investment properties
The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market for similar lease and other contracts.
In the absence of such information, the Group
determines the amount within a range of reasonable
fair value estimates. In making its judgement, the
Group considers information from a variety of
sources including:

(i) current prices in an active market for properties
of different nature, condition or location (or
subject to different lease or other contracts),
adjusted to reflect those differences.

(i) recent prices of similar properties in less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the date of the
transactions that occurred at those prices.

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

For management purpose, the Group is organised into
four (2009: three) major operating divisions — gamma
ray irradiation services, property development, rental
and sales, trading of building materials and provision of
renovation services, and securities trading and investment.
In 2010, with the acquisition of a subsidiary during the
year, a new separate reportable operating segment,
gamma ray irradiation services, is presented. These
divisions are the bases on which the Group reports its
primary segment information.
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities
An analysis of the Group's turnover, contribution to
operating results and segment assets and liabilities by

B RE AR AL

6. DEER (&)

THWEE -EERERE
AT2EEHD BT 2 N EE =2
R ReXEaER H2HMEERE

business segments is presented as follows: & :
2010 —E—=&
Trading of
building
Gamma Property  materials  Securities
ray development, and provision trading
imadiation  rental and ~of renovation and
Services sales services  investment  Unallocated  Consolidated
BEMH
mEstE  Wx¥E.  EARRH  R5EE
RAuRE HER#EE  RBRH k&E OB &4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Tén Tén Tén Tén Tén
INCOME STATEMENT W%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED Bz-2-3%%
31 MARCH 2010 ZR=t-HLEE
REVENUE s
Tumover L] 207 2,937 618 - - 3,762
Segment results B (19) (27365  (2430) 35069 - 5,082
Unallocated other operating income K ATEEBARA 240
Unallocated corporate expenses AARRARR (52,027)
Loss from operations LEER (46,705)
Finance costs AWK (1,222)
Loss before takation RHAEE (47,927)
Taxation E (3,305)
Loss before minorty interests ROERFERAES (51,232)

88




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

D EMIBEEBEBER~LN ST 2010 £3]

B RE IR AR AL

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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6. DEPER (@)

DEHEE BEREEE)

2010 —E-—T&
Trading of
building
Gamma Property ~ materials  Securities
ray development, and provision trading
imadiation  rental and  of renovation and
services sales services  investment  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
BEMH
mEsE  NEBR.  EARRM R5EE
RiRE HEREE ER% e AR &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TER TER TER TER TER
BALANCE SHEET BEARR
AT 31 MARCH 2010 R-8-85Zf=t-A
ASSETS EE
Segment assets HPEE 59749 101,661 1,052 11,744 - 174206
Unallocated corporate asses AORATEE 2,649
Consolidated total assets RREELE 176,855
LIABILITIES &
Segment libilities APak 52 28,340 395 - - 28,787
Unallocated corporate liabilities AL WNGIEL 38911
Consolidated total liabiliies LARfEEE 67,698
OTHER INFORMATION EftEH
FOR THE YEAR ENDED HE-2-%f
31 MARCH 2010 ZB=t-HLEE
Addiion of goodwil it 23,592 - - - - 23,592
Capital additions MERRMT 539 88 - - 197 824
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 24 434 69 - 210 937
Impaiment loss on other receivables  EftENEE HEER - 24,733 - - 191 24,924
Fair value gain on investment properties & %1% 2 AFENE - 10,406 - - - 10,406
Net unrealised gains on financial assets EATEF\ERZ SHEE
at fair value through profit or loss RERUREE - - - 1,243 - 1,243
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) PTHEBE -BEEREE(E)
2009 —EEAF
Trading of
building
Property materials Securities
development, and provision trading
rental and  of renovation and
sales services investment  Unallocated  Consolidated
BEH
nERR.  BHREH EHEE
HERHEE RERK RRE AAE ma
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT TET FET TAT
INCOME STATEMENT K@%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED BECZENF
31 MARCH 2009 ZAZt-HLEE
REVENUE g
Turnover (restated) BRE (KE)) - 3,902 - - 3,902
Segment results NHEE (13,834) (2,157) (21,790) - (37,781)
Unallocated other operating APEEMEERA
income 244
Unallocated corporate expenses KA EARHY (38,222)
Loss from operations SEER (75,759)
Finance costs BERA (3,053)
Loss for the year TERBE (78,812)
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

2009

BALANCE SHEET
AT 31 MARCH 2009

ASSETS
Segment assets
Unallocated corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities
Unallocated corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

OTHER INFORMATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2009

Capital additions
Depreciation and amortisation
Allowance for doubtful debts
on trade receivables, net
Impairment loss on goodwill
Impairment loss on
other receivables
Net unrealised losses on
financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Property
development,
rental and
sales
MEERE
HERHEE
HK$'000
THEL
EESER
RZBEAE=A=1-H
BE
NHEE 138,986
FORRABE
BREESBE
af
NHAE 16,536
NI
REBESE
HinEH
BZE-ZZNF
=R=t-HILEE
BB 51
FEREH 336
FERESREBE
HE -
EEREER 7,609
HipfEURERIE 2
REBE 4,095
RATHEFABRZ
SREECIAER
BRFE -

For the year

B RE IR AR AL

ended 31 March 2010

BE-T-TF=A=t—HL5E

6. DEVER (@)

DEHEE BEREEHE)

—EEhEF
Trading of
building
materials Securities
and provision trading
of renovation and
services  investment
BENR
LN EHEE
KBRS L&
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FEL
3,834 51,038
3,488 .
31 -
83 -
152 -
- 8,948

Unallocated  Consolidated

RAE 8
HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TEL

- 193,858
1,158

195,016

- 20,024
44,587

64,611

36 118
199 618

- 152
- 7,609

- 4,095

- 8,948
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SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
Revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment
sales during the year (2009: Nil).

Segment results represents the profit (loss) earned
or incurred by each segment without allocation of
central administration costs including directors’ salaries,
investment and other income, finance costs, and income
tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than current and deferred tax assets. Goodwill is
allocated to reportable segments as described in note
18. Assets used jointly by segments are allocated
on the basis of the revenues earned by individual
segments; and

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments
other than bank loans and current and deferred tax
liabilities. Liabilities for which segments are jointly
liable are allocated in proportion to segment assets.

Geographical segments

All of the Group's operations are principally located in
Hong Kong and the People’'s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). The Group's administration is carried out in Hong
Kong.

6.

D EBE R (&)

DEEE BEREEE)
EXmEHRWEEREINBERZ
Wat e RAFELEAMLHEE (ZF
TNEFHE) -

DERFREEERDEERITRERS (8

REEHE REREMERA BE
AR TSRS B &8
B EEZEM (BR) - tamE

BEEREE 2 BIMEE RS R

EDBRRLZITE -
HERDMRALED BE D EER

msE :

- MBEEADBEZHHmo AL (E
AEMMBERERBEERIN) - &
B8z T A DB E
B R0 &P e HEERBZE
FE*ETF%%-&B%E%HXZH&ZM
DB &

/_\_L

- FEBEREASEERHRDE (M
RITE AR SR IE TR IE B &R
Sh) o B AR KB AE 2 BE R
RBED A EE LD T ADE °

&5
REBAERBIEURBERPE

RAMBE ([FE]) - AEBZITH
THEREBBETT



SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical segments (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s turnover by geographical
market, irrespective of the origin of the goods and

services, is presented below:
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DEER (#E)

&S ()
AT2NAEERBET IS D 2 &
ER (T wmEm MR HIR M) DA -

2010 2009

—E-BF —ETNF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHERT FHET

(Restated)

(Z3l)

Hong Kong e 618 3,902
The PRC H 3,144 _
3,762 3,902

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of
segment assets, and additions to goodwill and property,
plant and equipment, analysed by the geographical area

in which the assets are located:

Carrying amount
of segment assets

T BREEMERED 2 HBAE
REEN RH B RN - R R
REZ A

Additions to
goodwill and property,
plant and equipment

HIEEERYE -

AHEEREE BE K&
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-TF _—_TTHNF ZZB-BF _—IZTTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAET FET TAT
Hong Kong B 14,822 56,035 197 67
The PRC Gy 162,033 138,981 24,219 51
176,855 195,016 24,416 118

Information about major customers EBETEEFEFZ2EH

The Group's customer base is diversified and no single
external customer exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue

(2009: nil).

AEBEFEMZHE  TEKXKS
BT ZRABBAEBRRA
Z10% (ZEZNF : £&) -
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7. TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUE AND GAINS 7.
(LOSSES), NET

Turnover represents the aggregate of the net amounts
received and receivable from third parties during the year.
An analysis of the Group's turnover, other revenue and
gains (losses), net is as follows:

EXE Htr AR K= (&
B)  FH
BEEIRFRRE S5 DRI

TRFREAR NEBEXE Al
AR (B8R - FEAMmT

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET
(Restated)
(A EZ|)
Turnover EER
Gamma ray irradiation services income  fi3% 57 4R 88 & AR 75 U A 207 -
Sale proceeds from properties & HEY RS IE
held for sale 931 -
Properties management fees MEERE 1,270 -
Rental income from investment KEMEZHEBA
properties 736 _
Renovation services BB AR 259 3,302
Trading of building materials BREMHES 359 600
3,762 3,902
Other revenue and gains Htg ARz (&8) -
(losses), net HEE
Interest income on financial assets WL N FEFABR
not at fair value through profit or loss & ghE& E 2 F WA 53 72
Dividend income from unlisted FLEMBEEZREBA
investment - 2,831
Dividend income from listed investments %4 2 i B UA 16 -
Net realised gains (losses) on financial & AFEFAEZZ
assets at fair value through TREEZEBHNG
profit or loss (B1E) #8 33,819 (12,823)
Net unrealised gains (losses) on BRATEFABRZ
financial assets at fair value through TREE ABRW G
profit or loss (B#E) #8 1,243 (8,948)
Fair value gain on investment REMEZ N ERR
properties (Note 16) (Hrat16) 10,406 —~
Forfeited deposit (Note) 2Rz Eke (K1iF) 2,837 -~
Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts & [E1 & 5 & U R BR 45 -
of trade receivables, net HER 6 —
Sundry income FEEWA 365 600
48,745 (18,268)
52,507 (14,366)
Gross proceeds from securities trading  #EHEE Z EWA 168,209 47,286




TURNOVER, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,
NET (continued)

Note:

On 18 July 2009t REH =X EFERER AT (Beijing De
Bang Fu Strategies Consultancy Company Limited) (“Beijing De
Bang Fu"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered
into the sale and purchase agreement with Jt REREHE ¥
BMRAF] (Beijing Chenlong Jiade Property Company Limited)
(the "Purchaser”), pursuant to which Beijing De Bang Fu agreed
to dispose of 90% of the entire issued share capital ofit
EREEHERIEAFMR AT (Beijing Ju Din Yuen Porperty
Development Company Limited)(“Beijing Ju Din Yuen") and all
the shareholder’s loan and monies due from Beijing Ju Din Yuen
and its subsidiary to Beijing De Bang Fu for a consideration of
RMB25,000,000. Given that the Purchaser has not fulfilled its
payment obligations under the sale and purchase agreement,
Beijing De Bang Fu, having taken advice from its PRC lawyers,
decided to terminate the sale and purchase agreement on
17 November 2009 and, through its PRC lawyers, served
relevant notice of termination on the Purchaser. Furthermore,
pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the deposit of
RMB2,500,000 (HK$2,837,000) already paid by the Purchaser
had been forfeited. Details of the transaction and its subsequent
termination are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
20 July 2009, 23 July 2009, 31 July 2009, 25 August 2009, 5
September 2009, 30 September 2009, 2 November 2009 and
17 November 2009.

7.
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B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE—_Z-—ZF=A=+—HILEFE

EXRFE HtWARKE GF
) (#)

Wit -

RZZEZAFELA+NR  ARAIZ2E
MEBARILRENEREFZRNEGRDA
([trERE) Bt EREHNEEXER
ARI(TER DI ES®H:E B - bR
EAERELELRERREMERES
RAal ([tRESR]) 2HE8 TR A
Z290%HEm NIt RE SR K ENE QA E
HEREREZMEREER MFE A
B A AR#25,000,0007T - ERE H I #E
BIOIREEEHZEBITZMNREMS I
REREKEEREPREMzERER
EZAF+ AT ERARTERUIEEEHZ
REBETPHEEMME A XEFBERILED
Lo s RIBEEHZ BEFEXNZ
4 AR #2,500,0007T (2,837,000 7T)
BFLURIW - ZR P REERRIEZFHIEH
RAQRGRZZZNFELA=+H =%
ZhE+A-_+t=8 - ZEZhhE+A
=+—B8 ZZETAFNA=-+HRA =
ZEENENARE ZEEAENA=T
A ZZZNhF+—AZHEZZEZTNF
T—At+tBEERZATR-
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8. IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON OTHER

010

B RE AR AL

8. HttEWREZREREIE -

RECEIVABLES, NET = 5
2010 2009
—B-F —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Bad debts recovered 2 E iR (8,042) -~
Other receivables H b e W BRIR 2,609 -
Prepayment for the first level of — AR 2 TR IR
land development (Note 25) (Hti£25) 30,357 4,095
24,924 4,095
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. A&
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Interest on: AE -
Bank borrowings wholly repayable ARAFANRHEEEZ
within five years RITEE 1,222 3,053
Total interest expense on financial WIER AP EFAERZ
liabilities not at fair value eRABE AN EX
through profit or loss 1,222 3,053
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10.LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 10. BRFL BB 18

Loss before taxation has been arrived at after

BR

Al EE'?TEEA?D %, (3t A\) T%|IEB

charging/(crediting): %1
2010 2009
—E2-FF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Staff costs 8 TR
— directors’ remuneration (Note 117) —EEMe (W) 5,188 1,635
— basic salaries and other benefits —ERF e REMEN 7,911 8,886
— retirement benefits scheme — R RRE A ET 8 i 3K
contributions 106 149
— share-based payments — ARG RERZ AR 3,444 —~
16,649 10,670
Auditors’ remuneration % BT B 2
— Current year —KEER 1,000 900
— (Over-) Under- provision in —SERFE (BEER)
prior years BETRE (95) 109
Allowance for doubtful debts of EWE 5 R B F5H
trade receivables, net - 152
Depreciation and amortisation of ME - BB LREITE
property, plant and equipment & Fi 724 618
Amortisation of land use rights = 3 150 A AR B 37 -
Loss on disposal of property, EEME - BEK&E
plant and equipment Z B = 168
Loss on disposal of investment HEREMEZEBE
properties 9 -
Operating lease payments (Note 38) KERERNR (M E38) 4,426 2,884
Cost of sales H & A AR
— Cost of inventories sold —BEEHFERAK 1,370 3,259
— Depreciation of property, —M%E  BWEKH&E
plant and equipment & 176 -
— Direct cost and operating —BEERAREERY
expenses 334 -
Write-down of inventories WoREE 5,542 -
Rental income net of direct outgoings ~ FA& WA MR EE S H (736) -
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11.DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 11.

AND HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS'
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and Section 161 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

I RE AR A

EERBEFMALZHME

() EEM e
BRIEBZFES LRI RE S
NAGERE16VEBERE 2 ARFE
BEEMEHT -

Retirement
benefits Share-
Directors'  Salaries and scheme based 2010 2009
Name of directors fees  allowances contributions  payments Total Total
BUREN  MRGHAE ZB-BF —ZTTNF
Bzl BENG HERER  HEMR ERZAR st @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FHET FET FET TERT T
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Ho Chi Ho fIEREE - 876 12 3,365 4,253 948
Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren SHEExE
(Note a) (Hiita) - - - - - 132
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Chow Siu Ngor FINERE 120 - - 67 187 120
Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren HEELE
(Note a) (Hita) 120 - - 67 187 103
Independent non-executive BUFHITES
directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, Edmund BEERE 120 - - 67 187 120
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen REERE 120 - - 67 187 120
Mr. Tsang Kwong Chiu, Kevin Bk
(Note b) (Hiith) - - - - - 92
Mr. Hung Hing Man (Note ¢) LB Xk & (Hritc) 120 - - 67 187 -
Total 2010 —Z-TEER 600 876 12 3,700 5,188 1,635
Total 2009 ZZENFEE 555 1,066 14 -




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11.DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
AND HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
Notes:

(a) Re-designated as non-executive director on 23 May
2008

(b) Resigned on 7 January 2009

(c) Appointed on 31 March 2009

(b) Highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, one (2009: two) was director of the
Company whose emoluments are set out above. The

D EMIBEEBEBER~LN ST 2010 £3]
B RS FR T MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE—_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEFE

NEERESFHMA LT zHE

(&

m=

(a) ESBME ()
Bz -

(@ RZZEZENFAA-_T=HH
ERENTES

(00 RZEZNF=-ZA=+—HH#E

s

(b) ZEHFMAL
rEELEERTMALTERE—
Z(ZETNF WA ARAE
SCOEMEFBEN X - KR

emoluments of the remaining individuals were as AL zMemT
follows:
2010 2009
—E-2F —TTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Salaries and other benefits e kEMET 2,681 3,964
Retirement benefits scheme RIREAET BI#HR
contributions 48 43
Share-based payments UARR (9 R BB 2 73R 469 -
3,198 4,007

The emoluments of the remaining highest paid
individuals were within the following bands:

Up to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to
HK$2,000,000

1,000,000/ 7T LAY
1,000,001/ 8LE
2,000,000/ 7T

<
e

HBBREFMALME N FUT
:

&y
2010 2009
—EB-BF —ITTNHF
Number of Number of
employees employees
EEA™ BEAH
3 2
1 2
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11.DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
AND HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ (%)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

NEERESFHALZHE

(b) Highest paid individuals (continued) (b) ZEFHMAL (E)
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the FR AEBTERNAZKSFH
Group to the five highest paid individuals, including AL (BREREENES) M
directors and employees, as an inducement to join © AERMAREBRIN A
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for RNEE 2 BB 2 {8 - F
loss of office. None of the directors has waived any AL BEZREEFME -

emoluments during the year.

12.TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED NR.aGe6KRERAZHE

INCOME STATEMENT

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Taxation in the consolidated income el amRANZHRIELR -
statement represents:
Overseas tax: BINGIR
Under-provision in previous years ERIFEERETR 1 -
Deferred tax (Note 31): RAERIR (H5E31) -
Origination and reversal of URERZESNER
temporary differences 3,304 -
Taxation charge BIA X 3,305 —
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax or the PRC ERARAFIRENB AT PMEFE
income tax has been made in the financial statements P ERFE R I E R Bk
as the Company and its subsidiaries have no assessable EREEREHb BB EE -

profits for both years.
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12. TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

The taxation on the Group's loss before taxation differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE_ZT-ZF=-A=T—HLFE

1.6 aRR2ZHE &)

AEE RV A EE < HBEGERR
AR A BB 2 AT R E 4+ 2 38

the domestic taxation rates applicable to losses of the

consolidated companies as follows:

WETEERWT

2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Loss before taxation BB AT E 18 (47,927) (78,812)
Tax at the domestic income tax szliﬁtﬁﬁ % 16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2009: 16.5%) ArE 2B
(ZZZNF 1 16.5%) (7,908) (13,004)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses — FATHIF S B & 18,717 6,872
Tax effect of non-taxable income PR AB TG & (4,279) (489)
Tax effect of temporary differences REEARERZERFERD
not recognised for the year Mg (6) 29
Tax effect of tax losses not REBRERZHBEHEY
recognised for the year Mg 4,419 6,014
Tax effect of utilisation of tax B AL RBRZBBER
losses previously unrecognised MR & (5,784) -
Effect of different tax rates of EEMAEEEREEZ
subsidiaries operating in MEBARTNRRENTE
other jurisdictions (1,855) 578
Under-provision in previous years ERFERETR 1 -
Taxation charge HIA X 3,305 -
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BEC

13.

14.

—EFE=-A=+—HLFE

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
is dealt with in the financial statements of the Company
to the extent of loss of HK$51,197,000 (2009:
HK$108,147,000).

BASIC LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on
the loss for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company of approximately HK$51,194,000 (2009:
approximately HK$78,812,000) and on the weighted
average number of 2,785,655,730 (2009 restated:
2,671,931,490) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The number of shares for the purpose of calculating basic
loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2009 has
been adjusted and restated to reflect the issue of bonus
shares on 20 October 2009 (Note 32(b)).

Diluted loss per share is not presented as the potential
shares arising from share options granted during the year
ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009 would have
anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share.

13.

14.

ARRERSEARLER
AAFRAEEAEEEET B

851,197,000 T (ZEE 1L F :
108,147,000/ 7T ) I AN &) 81 7 ¥ =
RPN

BREXRER

BREABEDIREARAEZR
BEAEMEAFEEEIELS51,194,000
BT (ZEZNLF : 478,812,000
L) RFABE BT EBRMEFLSH
2,785,655, 730 (ZEZENFKE
Bl :2,671,931,4900%) 5t & -

ARITEBRE_TEThAhF=A=+—
EﬁiEZi%%ZJ&EﬂEZH%%&H
EELABRLLES  URBRZF
ThE+A -+ BT 2O (M
F£32(b)) °

HREBEZE-_T—ZTF=-A=+—HK
—EEAFZA=Z+—HLEFERAE
HREREMEEZ BEROEHER
EREBBEENREBESZE  BAKR2
P GRS EE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

D EMIBEEBEER~LN ST 2010 £3]

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2010

HE_Z-—ZF=A=+—HILFE

15. 9% - BERKE

Leasehold  Leasehold Furniture  Construction
leasehold ~ landand  improve-  Plant and Motor and in
building ~ buildings ments  machinery vehicles fitures  progress Total
HELH  HENE BE fik
BERF kT &5 i AE REE  HRIE a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Tir T T Thr T T
THE GROUP T58
Cost B
At 1 Aprl 2008 RZZZNFOA-A - 3817 - 36 3914 936 - 8703
Additions g - - - 24 - 9% - 118
Disposals HE - - - - (880) - - (880)
Exchange realignment EREE - 83 - 1 53 I - 138
At 31 March 2009 R-EENE=A=T-H - 3,900 - 61 3,087 1031 - 8079
At T April 2009 RZZENEMA-A - 3,900 - 61 3,087 1,031 - 8,079
Additions i - - 39 174 288 285 38 824
Acquisition of WEHEART
subsidiaries (Note 35) (Wi#35) 3,788 - - 16,926 - 190 4 20,946
Eichange realignment ERBE - 12 - - 7 - - 19
At 31 March 2010 W-2-F5=f=1-B 3788 3912 39 17,161 338 1,506 80 29,868
Depreciation, amortisation  17% + B#RHE
and impairment
At 1 Apiil 2008 RZEFT\FMA-A - 3,599 - 10 1,594 566 - 5,769
Depreciation provided RERHERR
for the year - 12 - 7 468 131 - 618
Disposals e - - - - (313) - - (313)
Exchange realignment ERBE - 78 - - 2 - - 107
At 31 March 2009 R-EENE=A=T-H - 3,689 - 17 1778 697 - 6,181
At 1 April 2009 RZZENEMA-A - 3,689 - 17 1,778 697 - 6,181
Depreciation provided RERREAR
for the year 5 17 3 186 555 134 - 900
Exchange realignment EXa% - 12 - - 5 - - 17
At 31 March 2010 R-Z-EE=f=+-A 5 3718 3 203 2338 831 - 7,098
Net book values RERE
At 31 March 2010 RZB-FE=f=1-8 3783 194 36 16,958 1,044 675 80 22,770
At 31 March 2009 RZERNEZA=T-B - 21 - 44 1,309 334 - 1,898
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15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 9%  BERSKE @)

(continued)

The Group's leasehold land and buildings are situated AREEZHE T HEEFMRTRL
in the PRC held under long term land use rights. As the LESt i EEEES - R ERAHE
prepaid land lease payment cannot be allocated reliably B+ RBE NN T MEFREA S
between the land and building elements, the entire lease AR Rt BRERBREEE
payment is included in the cost of land and buildings SHERBITRIZVE BEREE
as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment in TRHAHERER Tt REERA Y
accordance with HKAS 17. A o

Depreciation expense of HK$176,000 (2009: Nil) has WEBML T - 176,000/ T B it A
been expensed in cost of sales and HK$724,000 (2009: MER KR (ZDZEZHE &) M@
HK$618,000) in administrative expenses. 724,000 LBt ATTHRER (=

ZTAF - 618,000/ 7T) °
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15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 9% - BMERRKE#)

(continued)
Leasehold Furniture
improvements and fixtures Total
HEMEEE HAREE mat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET FET
THE COMPANY ¥ /N
Cost ﬁJiZF
At 1 April 2008 NAZZEENFOA—H - 307 307
Additions %ﬁig - 36 36
At 31 March 2009 R-ZEZANF=A=+—H - 343 343
At 1 April 2009 AZTETNFIOA—H - 343 343
Additions %ﬁifz‘ 39 158 197
At 31 March 2010 RZE—ZTF=A=+—H 39 501 540
Depreciation and amortisation ?ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ
At 1 April 2008 AZEENFIOA—H - 166 166
Depreciation provided for $¢E?ﬁ%ﬁé‘ﬁ
the year - 37 37
At 31 March 2009 RZZFZENF=A=1+—H - 203 203
At 1 April 2009 R-_ZTHhEMA—A - 203 203
Depreciation provided for REEFTERE
the year 3 45 48
At 31 March 2010 RZE-—ZTF=A=+—H 3 248 251
Net book values IRMERE
At 31 March 2010 R=-B-ZF=A=+—H 36 253 289
At 31 March 2009 RZBEZENF=A=+—H - 140 140
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B RE AR AL

16.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. IRE W %
THE GROUP
REE

2010 2009
—E-2F —EENEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
At beginning of the year REA) - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) W B B A &) (M it35) 40,628 -
Disposals HE (197) -
Fair value gain (Note 7) NEEWRE (HaE7) 10,406 -
Exchange realignment bEE 2= R & 130 -
At end of the year MEL 50,967 -

The investment properties were revalued at 31 March
2010 on market value basis by RHL Appraisal Ltd, an
independent firm of professional property valuer, as to
approximately HK$50,967,000. The fair value gain of
approximately HK$10,406,000 had been credited to the
income statement for the year ended 31 March 2010.

The Group's investment properties comprised:

Properties situated in the PRC
held under medium-term land
use rights

ZNRRBZ %

KB EEMERMKANITTERER
ERABIR=ZZTE—ZTF=ZRA="+—
AIREMBEZETEMR REWE
2 ANFEHL AE50,967,000/8 7T © &
10,406,000 7T 2 A FEWK = 25 A
HE T ZTF-_A=+—HILEE
ZWEERA o

KEBZIREMERE
2010 2009
—E-BF —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET

WRIE A HI b AR

50,967 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEFE

17.LAND USE RIGHTS 17. L b FI
THE GROUP
rEER
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
CosT A
At 1 April MRHA—HB - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) W BRI B A F) (ME35) 12,173 -
At 31 March MR=A=+—H 12,173 —
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION EETHEH
At 1 April MR A—H - -
Amortisation provided for the year RNEEHHEE 37 -
At 31 March W=A=+—H 37 -
NET BOOK VALUE AR R E
At 31 March WR=A=+—H 12,136 -
The Group's interests in land use rights are outside Hong AEERLEREZERUNES

Kong with medium term leases.

PASN - WARIEH AT EA
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BE_Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE

18. GOODWILL 18. & &
THE GROUP
rEHE
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
CoST D%
At 1 April MR A—HB 7,609 7,505
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary AU B BT A R EEAE
(Note 35) (K15#35) 23,592 -
Currency realignment bEE 2= TR & - 104
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 31,201 7,609
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT Z5HRE
At 1 April REMA—H 7,609 -
Impairment losses recognised ERRBERRE = 7,609
At 31 March R=RAR=+—H 7,609 7,609
NET CARRYING AMOUNT REEE
At 31 March R=RA=+—H 23,592 -

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's cash-generating units
(CGUs) identified according to country of operation and
business segment.

The goodwill arose from the acquisition of 3 & FlJ R =}
R IR T AR A A (Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray Technologies
Co. Limited) (“Zibo Liyuan”) in March 2010. Zibo Liyuan
is identified as a separate CGU and reportable segment —
gamma ray irradiation services. The recoverable amount
of the gamma ray irradiation services operation has been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation, which
uses a cash flow projection based on financial forecast
prepared by management covering a 5-year period. The
discount rate applied to cash flow projection is 10% and
cash flow beyond the 5-year period is extrapolated using
zero growth rate. Based on the valuation results prepared
by the management, the management considered that
there is no impairment charge needed to be made
against the goodwill as at 31 March 2010.

AERERR
BEREGLERREER D DA
EAXAKECRMNNREELEM R
TELEM) -

BEDR T -TF= A REEER
REMEREMER AR (DEERN
R BEE - BBARIIERS A
BEREReELBEULBRD MBS
5 4% AR 5T BR 7% o 035 5T AR IR BT AR5 3R
Bz e B REEREEFE
MTAETE  HEAFELDERERE
BEMRREZREDFHEZMBTE
BrBReREEAMBL -RERE
HEMERMZBEREB10%  MAEF
ZRZBAEREDNERTERRT
UHEE - RIEEEEMGRZGES
R EEER/EAR _FT—TF=
A=Zt+—RzEEELRERX -



18.

19.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

Management determined the budgeted sales and gross
margins based on past performance, expectation for the
market development and planned production strategy.
The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks
relating to gamma ray irradiation services.

The goodwill is included in the gamma ray irradiation
services business segment disclosed in note 6 to the
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18.8 & (&)

BERENR(E)
EEERBBAERT MBHEERZRE
HALA Ko 2 1 7] 2 22 ah 5K S 2 E TR B 84
ERELEMNKR -FIEMAZMRESR
BIBRZR R - I AR 22 4035 57 AR IR 5T AR
BBz ERR

B MNIH ST AR IR T IR R A5 0 #8 A
Z BT B AR MY FE6 R 1 h

financial statements. & o
INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. R B AR 2=
THE COMPANY
¥ YN
2010 2009
—EB-8F —"ITTNHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost JEETMRG - BAE - -
Amounts due from subsidiaries N EPNGIE =] 613,477 742,997
Allowance B (377,399) (363,829)
236,078 379,168
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT T B A B RRIR (147,849) (261,135)
88,229 118,033

The Company's cost of investments in the unlisted shares
of its directly held subsidiaries is in aggregate less than
HK$1,000.

Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment. In
the opinion of the directors, the amounts will not be
repayable within twelve months of the balance sheet date
and are accordingly classified as non-current.

ARBNEEERENHBLAR 2
B 48 B AR AN 42 B8 A 101,0008
7TE0

FEUR () P /B A B 2 FRIA 3 S A A
ENMNBENMNEBEEERR -BEFRR
BEERAITENEE AR+ @A
NEE - Bt - ZFRBE D BRFE
MBEE -
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19.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19.AMBE AR 2z (47)

In view of the subsidiaries which sustained losses and ENZEWNBARFESRGERR
had poor operating performance, not financially capable BERBRE WEMBRLEXREE
of repaying to the Company, the directors opined that it RFARNF AW BEZEZSE
is appropriate to make an allowance of HK$377,399,000 MEARZBFEEN BB
(2009: HK$363,829,000) after considering the MERNE KRR RERBEZE
profitability, financial positions, cash flows and future 1377,399,0008 T (ZEEZ N F -

prospects of these subsidiaries. 363,829,000/ L) Z M E B -

Movements on the allowance account are as follows: BEREZEEHOAT

2010 2009
—E-2F ZETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At beginning of the year REA) 363,829 287,229
Impairment loss recognised ERRHIRERE 13,570 76,600
At end of the year GRS 377,399 363,829
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 ARRAEFEMBRANR-ZE—ZF
March 2010 are set out in note 44. A=+ —BZHFBINENR W44 -

20.AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 20.F/HESREE

THE GROUP
rEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET
Unlisted equity securities in overseas, &R A%IfR 2~

at cost BN £ AR RS 5 = 2,268




20.

21.

22.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

(continued)

Details of the Group’s investments in unlisted equity
securities included above disclosed pursuant to Section
129(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as
follows:

D EMIBEEBEBER~LN ST 2010 £3]
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEFE

20T HESRMEE (&)

FXRBERBEREARGDFE129(1)
REELAREZIELEMESFRE
(R CENE

Proportion of
nominal value of

Effective

Place of issued share capital/ proportion of issued

incorporation/ registered capital share capital/registered

Name of investee operations held by the subsidiary capital held by the Group
MEARFRAE rEERRFE

AR, BRITRE BRITRA

EREDNAER EEWE AMmEREELLS A MERER L
LiarmEEp T2 PRC/PRC 40% 20.4%

REBARDF R, HE

The above company is not regarded as an associate of
the Group because the Group has no significant influence
over its affairs.

The above financial asset was disposed of during the year
at its original cost.

DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The amount represented the cost of acquisition of the
entire equity interests in EF/BEAFMEREERA
7l (Chongging Sunrise Property Development Company
Limited) and EEREATEFZzEREME LR (Chongging
Feng Hong Ji Enterprise Company Limited). The
acquisition was completed on 15 June 2009 (Note 35).

INVESTMENT DEPOSITS

The amounts represented earnest money paid to two
independent third parties in relation to proposed project
investments in the PRC. The Group had the right to
demand for a full refund of the earnest money should
there be no definitive sale and purchase agreement
entered into subsequently. The amounts were unsecured
and interest-free. The Group received the full refund
during the year ended 31 March 2010.

FRRBIEARBARNEEB 2B ER
Al ASAEEHEXBESATE

tREMEERAFERAAELIRE K
RHE -

21. BB AR MY ZRE

ZeRANBEEBRRMERRA
RARMEERLATEEXARAEER
GES S AR NP ST § - S -
ZENFRA TR AT (KIEE35) o

2. BE®RS

ZETHEARERTZITRERRE
AMEBBLE="TXNZHEE - K
BRI EFT SRR E B = s
AIXAEEERERTBEOHES °
REFRDEEALEE -BEZT
—ZEF-_F=1T-HILHFE %F=2
BMAEBEROTALH -
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23.INVENTORIES 23. 78
THE GROUP
rEEH

2010 2009
—2-FF —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Building materials AR 375 530
Properties held for sale FELEME - 5,858
375 6,388

Included in properties held for sale amounting to HK$Nil
(2009: HK$5,858,000) were properties carried at net
realisable value. The building materials were carried at

BIELEWELRETSETL(ZTETN
F : 5,858,000/ Jr) 1% A] & I8 F B 7]
BREOME - EREM M AR AEDIEE -

cost.
24.PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 2. BRP Y=
THE GROUP
REE

2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TET
At beginning of the year REA) - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) W BB AR (M it35) 40,006 -
Exchange realignment DEE 34, 8 B 104 -
At end of the year MEE 40,110 -

The properties under development represent medium
term land use rights in the PRC and are stated at fair
value less cost to sell.
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25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. BEINE 5 R HAIRE
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
KEH AATR
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF —TTHNF ZE-FHF —ZTTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Trade receivables FEWE 5ERIE 3,246 4,792 = -
Less: allowance for B RERREHE
doubtful debts 2,901 3,091 - —
Trade receivables, net R E 5 RIEFE 345 1,701 = -
Other receivables and H b e U BRIA &
prepayments TE T RIE
(Note) (H15E) 11,663 53,241 104 225
12,008 54,942 104 225

In the opinion of the directors, all of the above trade EER R LEMBRKES REM
and other receivables are expected to be recovered or ARIEFETAI RN —FRKEBIXERAE
recognised as expense within one year. R e

EERRRERKE S REMKREZRE
BEEANFEMRS -

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade
and other receivables approximate to their fair values.

AEBEBRTHESEPFHN F60H
EORZEEHR -AEBEREREH
HI MR BRI E 5 REN R

The Group allows an average credit period of 60 days to
90 days to its trade customers. The ageing analysis of the
Group's trade receivables, based on the invoice date and

net of allowances, is as follows: BAMWT
THE GROUP
rER

2010 2009
—E-2F ZZETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Up to 30 days 30BN 252 724
31 to 90 days 31290H 46 120
91 to 365 days 91&365H 47 634
Over 365 days #3365 H - 223
345 1,701
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25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. EWESZ R EMERE (&)

(continued)
The movements on the allowance for doubtful debts are REBREZEHOT
as follows:
THE GROUP
rEH
2010 2009
—E2-FF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
At beginning of the year RF A 3,091 2,940
Impairment loss recognised EHRAREREE 106 164
Uncollectible amount written off i 88 A R B1 R IR (184) (1
Unused amounts reversed BROREAEE (112) (12)
At end of the year RE4R 2,901 3,091

At 31 March 2010, trade receivables of HK$2,901,000
(2009: HK$3,091,000) were impaired. The amount of
allowance for impairment was HK$2,901,000 as at 31
March 2010 (2009: HK$3,091,000). The individually
impaired receivables mainly related to a number of
customers that were in financial difficulties and have
remained long overdue.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are
considered to be impaired is as follows:

WN_ZT—ZTF=ZA=+—8 EK
B 5 8R1E2,901,0008 T (ZEZE 1
F 3,091,000 7L) EERE - R
TE-TFE=ZRA=+—HZREE
# £2,901,0008 L (ZZEZT N F -
3,091,000/ 7T) ° {6 Bl &k (& &9 FE U BR
B TESREEBAMBREH® KK
HRHRZERE °

RRBTREZEWEZRERE D
ran T

THE GROUP
rEE

2010 2009
—E2-%BF CTTNHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
1 year to 2 years past due WA E2F 119 459
Over 2 years past due B AR A2 F 2,782 2,632
2,901 3,091
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25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. BEINE S R HAMIRE (&)
(continued)
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are not REERREZEKE ZREAREK D
considered to be impaired is as follows: iR NN
THE GROUP
REE
2010 2009
—E-2F —EThF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Not yet past due EENCES 195 680
Less than 6 months past due B HA D6 1E A 121 483
6 months to 1 year past due BEA6fE A =14 29 315
1 year to 2 years past due BERE2F - 223
345 1,701
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date RREBBMAARZ 2 ZeEERR
is the fair value of each class of receivables mentioned REMREWEZREBZ RFE A&
above. The Group does not hold any collateral or other P 7 48 3 o S5 6 PR 45 5 R R 97 ok
credit enhancements over these balances. All of the other HitEREaE N ERERRY
classes within trade and other receivables are neither past AT A IR 5 R H fth BRIRBR 2
due nor impaired with good credit quality. BRRthmETRIE -
Included in trade and other receivables is the following RUE S R EMIREH BE Tk
amount denominated in a currency other than the WARRB 2N KR REN 2 B8 -

functional currency of the Company to which they relate:

Renminbi

THE GROUP
AEME
2010 2009
—EB-2F ZEENF
‘000 '000
Fr T
AR 10,499 32,625
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25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25.BWE SR HMIRE (&)
(continued)
Note: Fzan
As at 31 March 2009, other receivables and prepayments RZTETZNF=ZA=+—8 HMEKE
included an amount of approximately HK$27,517,000 mainly B RIENRIEBEL /527,517,000 7T -
paid for the first level of land development on certain areas of TEARERmREREE TR ((Z L
Huairou District of Beijing (“the Land"). Such land development M) EIT MM o ZLMRAETR
works included the removal of the existing buildings situated on BEERZ T FTNRAEREY %
the Land, the relocation of the existing residents, the provision EREER RHEERRERS (2EE
of infrastructure systems including roads, drainage system, water B HKES KE  EREREHHER
pipes, gas and electricity supply and the construction of public T NHRE) ©
facilities.
The directors are of the opinion that there has not been any EEZRR BRIEHEZEE FTHEILE
satisfactory progress of relocation of the existing residents since UK BERRZEREBRERIL ARG
the termination of disposal of such project to an independent MEAMENER KEEFEHEMZ
purchaser and, after taking the advice from its PRC lawyers, ERERBND - Lt HHABEMELEZ
consider that the recoverability of the costs incurred for the first PR 2 FTREMEE SR o BRI - BBt ARI A 6
level of land development was remote. Accordingly, impairment ©%27,517,0008 TR HAERBE &
loss of the amount brought forward of HK$27,517,000 has been B4 Z#E— $ 5 X2,840,00008 T 0 A H
recognised and further costs incurred of HK$2,840,000, totalling 30,357,000/ 7T (M1 518) BRI R A
HK$30,357,000 (Note 8), were expensed in the income $H(ZZZTNE : 4,095,000/87C) °

statement (2009: HK$4,095,000).

26.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 26. B AFEF ARG Z
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS TREE
THE GROUP
REE
2010 2009
—B-FF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAET
Listed securities held for trading: FEEEZ E &S
— Equity securities — Hong Kong —BREBEH-BFS 7,677 6,450
— Equity securities — Overseas — ARG 5 — /I 2 15
Market value of listed securities rWmEAsEmE 7,679 6,465
None of the carrying amount of interest in listed securities RNEEH FTEAEXHNETAEY
exceeded 10% of total assets of the Group at balance THEeENEBFREEMLEEI0% °

sheet dates.
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27.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 27. & RBEEHEER
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
rEE ¥ /N
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2F —TTHhF =ZEB-ZF —TThF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FHET FHET
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRE 7,218 9,373 1,922 301
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the HEmEeReREmMEAMs Be kIR
purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows: SEBMBEEBRETNYEE
THE GROUP
rEE
2010 2009
—EB-ZF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFAT
Bank balances and cash as per above RITHEHR AR - 0 kit 7,218 9,373
Bank overdrafts (Note 30) R1TE X (KF15E30) - (2,925)
7,218 6,448

BERABRNASLRECTHRERER
BINLFENARRB 2 EERE

Included in cash and cash equivalents in the balance
sheet are the following amounts denominated in

currencies other than the functional currency of the (VRSO /¢ CI
Company to which they relate:
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
rEE PN
2010 2009 2010 2009
—®-%F -—TThE —B-BFE _"TThA
‘000 '000 ‘000 ‘000
Fr Tt Fr T
United States Dollars ETT 5 5 - -
Renminbi AR 1,016 7,939 493 -
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28.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

28. BENEZ REMKRE

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
# ART
2010 2009 2010 2009
—g-8F —2TNF =—F-BF —TINF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET FER FAT

Trade payables e B S ARIE 185 367 - -
Other payables and F At &~ BRIE

accruals K &R IR 34,788 22,401 5,579 5,669

34,973 22,768 5,579 5,669

In the opinion of the directors, all of the trade and other
payables are expected to be settled or recognised as
income within one year or are repayable on demand.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade

payables approximates to their fair value.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables is as

E=ZRR MAEZMEMEMNEKR
BEHAR —FAXMRER BB ASLZ
ZRME -

EERRENESRBEZREERE
NFERE

AEBRNESRAZREDHITWT :

follows:
THE GROUP
rEE

2010 2009
—E-BF —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Up to 30 days 30BN 7 65
31 to 90 days 31290H 3 32
Over 90 days 83890 H 175 270
185 367
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29.

30.
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Included in trade and other payables is the following
amount denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the Company to which they relate:

Renminbi AR

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEFE

20 BENESZREAMIRIE (&)

ENE S MEMKRERRE THIAIEAR
NAZNEEEE REMENEE

THE GROUP
A%H
2010 2009
—g-8% _"TThE
‘000 ‘000
T Fi
25,506 14,584

AMOUNT DUE TO A MINORITY
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

The amount due to a minority shareholder of a subsidiary
is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

29. BB AR L BRRRE

EN—EHMBARZ —BLBRER
HEERE - BB MR BRKEEE -

BANK BORROWINGS 30.8R1ITIREE
THE GROUP
rEE
2010 2009
—E-2F —ZETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAEx FET
Current TED
Bank borrowings RITIEE
— unsecured - IR 7,393 22,676
Bank overdrafts RITEX
— secured (Note 27) - B (HiE27) - 2,925
Total borrowings 7,393 25,601

At 31 March 2010, the average effective interest rate of
the bank borrowings is approximately 6.903% p.a. (2009:
9.54% p.a.). The carrying amount of short-term bank
borrowings approximate to their fair values.

RNZE-—ZEF=A=+—H "  R78
BEWFHERMNELY AT N *E6.903
E(ZZEZNGF  FHEI54F) - 58
HIFITEECREEEE QN TERS -
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30.BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 30.8RITEE (&)
The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in EENEREINTE® B RE
the following currencies: Az
THE GROUP
REH
2010 2009
—E-BF —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong Dollars 7T - 2,925
Renminbi AR 7,393 22,676
7,393 25,601
31.DEFERRED TAXATION 31.IEERIE

Details of deferred tax liabilities and amount charged to
consolidated income statement are as follows:

EERBABRBGRARERINGRZ
TRZHABWT

THE GROUP rEE
Revaluation of
investment
properties Others Total
EMREME Ht et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR THETT
At 1 April 2008 and RZZEZENFMNA—A R
31 March 2009 —EEAF=ZA=1+—H - ~ ~
Acquisition of subsidiaries W RE B B8 X R (A7 7235)
(Note 35) 3,028 - 3,028
Charged to consolidated income B4R A WS & MK
statement (Note 12) (Htizi12) 2,594 710 3,304
Exchange realignment DEE 54, S B 14 1 15
At 31 March 2010 R-E-FTF=A=1+—H 5,636 711 6,347




31.DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At 31 March 2010, the Group has unutilised tax
losses of approximately HK$268,112,000 (2009:
HK$277,988,000), part of which has not yet been
agreed with the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department,
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
Included in unutilised tax losses as at 31 March 2010
were losses of approximately HK$22,770,000 that would
expire in five years and the remaining balance would
not expire under the current tax legislation. The balance
of unutilised tax losses as at 31 March 2009 does not
expire under the current tax legislation.

At 31 March 2010, the Group has other deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$366,000
(2009: HK$164,000) in respect of allowance and
impairment losses recognised. No deferred tax assets has
been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
differences as it is not probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. These deductible temporary
differences do not expire under the current tax legislation.
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31.IEERIE (&)

NZE—ZEF=A=+—H x5£H
A A0 R 2R 5 A 2 R R AR 7S B 1B
#4/4268,112,0008 L (ZEZTNF :
277,988,000/87T) * #5 & ¥ M RIE
READEBRE - AR TEETER K
s F AROR - B R B EZ B RS B 1R R
RELEHIBEEE RZTE—TF=H
=t+—B HFAXRDAURBEE S
184922,770,0007% 7L O] BE A B F M I
H - MR NASRIRBRIR AT IED
REEB -RZZTETZNF=A=+—H
REAMBEBERBRBERITHBEE
Bl 1 AR EIHR o

RZE—ZFF=F=+—H A£EH
HEEREBEIRESEBZEMAIN
B B = BB 4) A366,0008 T (T E
JLEF £ 164,000870) - AR AIgET &
7 A FE AR BEE T A LA 88 AT 008 B I
Z82 WY ERZZUNRERER
BRELEHBEE - REBIRBEE
Bl ZEATREGREREAREE -
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BE-_ZT—ZF=-A=+—HLFE
32.SHARE CAPITAL 32. R A
Number of shares Amount
RHEE x|
Notes HK$'000
By sE FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each: ~ ®REE0.01ETL2 L@M
Authorised: 5”571 :
At 1 April 2008, R_ZEENFMA—H -
31 March 2009 and “EENFZA=+—HK
31 March 2010 —E-FEF=A=1+—H 15,000,000,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
At 1 April 2008 R-BEN\FMA—A 513,686,298 5,137
Exercise of share options iR E 20,700,000 207
At 31 March 2009 and R=F mi A=+—H
1 April 2009 R-ZEAEMA—H 534,386,298 5,344
Exercise of share options Sl (a) 82,750,000 828
Bonus issue of shares BATHIIY (b) 2,250,545,192 22,505
At 31 March 2010 —ZF5=H=+—H 2,867,681,490 28,677
Notes: Hiat -
(@) During the year, options were exercised to subscribe (@) MAFE - AREES2,750,000/ K KA

(b)

for 82,750,000 ordinary shares in the Company
at a consideration of HK$15,988,000 of which
HK$828,000 was credited to share capital and the
balance of HK$15,160,000 was credited to the share
premium account (Note 34) together with a transfer of
HK$5,344,000 from the share options reserve to the share
premium account. Details of options outstanding and
movements during the year are set out in Note 33.

At the special general meeting of the Company held on 19
October 2009, the shareholders of the Company approved
issuance of bonus shares, on the basis of four bonus
shares, credited as fully paid, for every one existing issued
ordinary share. On 20 October 2009, 2,250,545,192
shares were issued pursuant to the bonus issue.

All the ordinary shares issued during the year ranked
pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares in all
respects.

(b)

RAFEANET

AERER s BRECETE  HER
& /15,988,000 7T * & H828,000
IR AR - W82 T 15,160,000
Tt ABRD R ER (WE34) @ ER
B B % R 5 18 88 5,344,000 7T &
5 EER - FREKRITEZBR
TN BB S 5E33 ©

750*77)1¢+H+j15 127K
NaRERERRE £ ARRARIFTER
AL EETAR EEAERE —
IR IR B R () B 2 AR A BR 51 B
B2 - RZZEZENF+A=F
H ' 2,250,545,1920% & 17 18 # 4T A%
BATMEETT ©

TZ A TR R

BERMDEMBETEZEERSEMN -



33.SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 24 April 2002, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2002 Scheme") which will expire on 23
April 2012 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to directors, eligible employees and consultants. Under
the 2002 Scheme, the board of directors of the Company
may at its discretion offer to any employee, including
executive directors, or consultants of the Company and/
or its subsidiaries options to subscribe for shares in the
Company at a consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share
options granted. Options granted should be accepted
within 30 days from the date of grant.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares on the date of grant, (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant, or (iii) the
nominal value of the Company's shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the 2002 Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of shareholders’ approval of the 2002 Scheme, without a
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the 2002 Scheme
and any other schemes, must not, in aggregate, exceed
30% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue from time to time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the 2002 Scheme at any time after the date upon
which the option is granted and prior to the expiry of 10
years from that date. The period during which an option
may be exercised will be determined by the board of
directors in its absolute discretion, save that no option
may be exercised more than 10 years after it has been
granted. No option may be granted more than 10 years
after the date of approval of the 2002 Scheme. Subject
to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting
or by the board of directors’ resolution at a general
meeting, the 2002 Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years after the date of adoption of the
2002 Scheme.
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HE—_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEE

33. IR AESTE

AARR_EET-_FMA - +mMBERK
M—EEN T ——FMNA=+=H
B B ESE ([ TT F5
) ETEENENREHERDTE
EX CEREENRER -RE_-F
Z_FHE ARREFEGURNGEM
EAEES (BREARAR,SHEHNB
NRAZHTEZTIER) REARE
ARRRD 2 BB - R BREL
BHRE/BT BH2BREZR
REHBHES =T B RKES -

TEERARAESFETE - HHER
ATMEEZEE  (HVEEAHNK
MHE: (NVREAMATREZERA
f 17 S 35 W B (i AN 2 A B )
[EIRER

FRIFEFARRBRRE LML - BRI
BRE-_ZFT_FHETTREZER
BERZBN R TRBEBART
RERIE-—FTT_FHEAZAZD
FATRAD10% ©

BIEZSEE-_FE REMEMGTE
EREMmMERITEZEZETEIOE
REREBHITER TEITZIRNR
Y BREITSBBARARRTRD BT
[i&% 7 #2300 °

RIE-_FT_F8 2GR BkE
AREEERLEREEMZBET
FlEmATBERTTE - BRE 2R 17
EHEHEFTS2RNIBETE &R
BRETFERERD +F&RITE K=
TE_FAEMEREF T F&
B SR LB AE - BRIEA QBRI
RREXREFTENBRRANEG ZRZE
RIEFRILGE TR —FT -
AERRRA T _FEEEAR
TEHRABRRAE
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33.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be
issued) in respect of which options may be granted to
any eligible person in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company
in issue, unless a shareholders’ approval has been

obtained.

The following tables disclose details of the Company's
share options held by directors, employees and
consultants and movements in the 2002 Scheme.

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Grantee

ARA

Directors
gz

Ho Chi Ho
5%

Hung Hing Man
AEX

WWong Hoi
Kuen, Edmund
Bt

Chan Chi Yuen
B

Date
of grant

R RA

06.03.2007
17.09.2007

11.05.2009

16.09.2009

16.09.2009

16.09.2009

Exercise
price
per share

SRTREE
(Note b)
(Hib)

HKS
Ar

0.2244

0.2420

0.0730

0.1160

0.1160

0.1160

Exercisable
period

phEE

06.03.2007-
05.03.2010
17.09.2007-
16.09.2010
31.07.2009-
10.05.2012

16.09.2009-
15.09.2012
16.09.2009-

15.09.2012

16.09.2009
15.09.2012

33. 8RR El (@)
B2 SRR BLESN - REMA+ (A
AHRAREAEERALATFERE
ZHERRERS R 2 B8 R T EITR
NHEE  RZ I FEBEBARFDET
PR 48 281 % ©
TREBR_ZEZT_FHEPESE
BENMBEBMER 2 EBRENHE
BRI
BE-Z-ZEF=ZA=Z=+—-HLFE
Number of share options
EREHA
Weighted
average
closing
share price
immediately
Granted  Exercised Lapsed before
Outstanding ~ duringthe ~ duringthe  duringthe ~ Outstanding exercise date
at 31.03.2009 year year year at31.032010  BEE
R-BEAE R-F-2F  BHHRG
ZR=1-8 ZR=t-8  ME¥H
WAE  ERRE  ERTE FAXN HAGE UG
(Note b) (Note )
(Hith) (Hitc)
HKS
Bn
7,500,000 - - (7,500,000 - N/A
TER
18,000,000 - - - 18,000,000 N/A
ER
- 225,000,000 - - 225,000,000 N/A
(Note g) il
(Hita)
- 2500000 (2,500,000 - - 0.1862
- 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 N/A
TER
- 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 N/A
il
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33.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (continued)

Exercise

Date price

Grantee of grant per share

ARA RARA  SROKE

(Note b)

(Hith)

HKS

B

Ma Kwok 16.09.2009 0.1160

Hung, Warren

e

Chow SiuNgor ~16.09.2009 0.1160
IR

Employees 16.09.2009 0.1160
=

Consultants and
other eligible
participants

BRRAHERSRA
05.06.2006 0.0540

11.10.2006 0.0646

16.09.2009 0.1160

Exercisable
period

AT

16.09.2009-
15.09.2012

16.09.2009-
15.09.2012

16.09.2009-
15.09.2012

05.06.2006-
04.06.2009
11.10.2006-
10.10.2009
16.09.2009-
15.09.2012
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HE—_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEE

33. B ERE (2

BE-—ZEZ-ZHF=ZA=+—-HLEE

(%)
Number of share options
FRERE
Granted  Exercised Lapsed
Outstanding ~ duringthe ~ duringthe  during the ~ Outstanding
at 31.03.2009 year year year at 31.03.2010
R-EENE N-%-%%
Zh=t-A Zp=t-A
HAGE  FARE  FAGR FRRN BROR
(Note b)
(Hith)
- 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
- 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
- 20,600,000 (20,100,000) - 500,000
59,200,000 - (56,150,000) (3,050,000) -
63,000,000 - (63,000,000) - -
- 108,000,000  (54,000,000) - 54,000,000
147,700,000 366,100,000 (195,750,000) (10,550,000) 307,500,000

Weighted
average
closing
share price
immediately
before
exercise date
REOR
BEARG
mE¥H
ke
(Note ¢)
(W)
HKS

An

N/A
TR

N/A
) il

0.1862

0.0797
0.1243

0.1862
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33.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

©

These 225,000,000 share options are vested in four
tranches with (i) 209% exercisable on 31 July 2009;
(i) 20% exercise on the 11 February 2010; (iii) 30%
exercisable 11 August 2010; and (iv) 30% exercisable on
11 February 2011.

The Company made a four for one bonus issue of shares
on 19 October 2009 (the “Bonus Issue”). For share options
remained exercisable on 19 October 2009, adjustments for
the Bonus Issue were made to the effect that the number
of share options have been increased by four times and
the exercise prices have been decreased accordingly. These
adjustments were made in accordance with the rules of the
share option schemes.

The share price at the date of exercise for shares options
exercised during the year was after adjusting for the Bonus
Issue.

B RE AR AL

33. (B RAERHE ()

B &E -

(a)

(b)

©

%225, 000,00017 i A% 1 7 1Y & 26 15
ESE  HAB@()200R T HF
A=+ —BA1T6  (ii)20%R =
T—2F - A+—HATTE (iii)30%
RZE—ZFNA+—RBATE:
R(iv)300R =T ——F A +—H
AJAT{E o

ARRR_FZEAFTATHLBER
BB — AR ) A 3 MARAL IR ([ 4L
‘T RZZEZEANFT AT
BRI ITE M B R B B AT B3 AT
FHHAR ARBREREHRE CIE
Mg - MITEERL T ARD - %
ZRBDREBRESSZHARM
fEH o

FABBREETES R Z2BMHITE
BEREBARBEITIEHRAE -
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HE—_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEE

33. B REHE ()

BE-ZZANF=A=Z+—HLEE

Number of share options

RREHE
Exercise Granted Exercised Lapsed
Date price Exercisable Outstanding during the during the during the Outstanding
(rantee of grant per share period  at 31.03.2008 year year year  at 31.03.2009
R-FRNE R-FENE
Zh=1-H ZR=1-H
AR RHAH SRoEE  WHRER AT FRRH ERfre FRRM AT
(Note b) (Note b) (Note b)
(Hitp) (i) (Hitp)
HKS
BT
Director
gz
Ho Chi Ho 06.03.2007 02244 06.03.2007- 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000
5% 05.03.2010
17.09.2007 02420 17.09.2007- 18,000,000 - - - 18,000,000
16.09.2010
Consultants
Ef
05.06.2006 00540  05.06.2006- 59,200,000 - - - 59,200,000
04.06.2009
11.10.2006 00646 11.10.2006~ 63,000,000 - - - 63,000,000
10.10.2009
147,700,000 - - - 147,700,000

As at 31 March 2010, the fair value of the share options
granted was HK$8,340,000 of which the Company
recognised share options expense of HK$7,144,000.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model (“Model"), taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. Details of the fair values of share options
determined at the date of grant using the Model with
significant variables and assumptions are as follows:

RZE—ZF=-ZA=+—H8" BE&RH
i Ix & <« » F 1B /8,340,000 7T -
HAPARRQRIHRARBAREEMA7,144,000
BT

PR EE 2 BN R FE
RELB#AB N = - FE G ER
A (MRAD A& LEZEREBER
B2 &R AT - BRABRER KL
FHUZREAEE A FEREEXR
EERBERNFBOT
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BEC

33.

—EFE=-A=+—HLFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

06.03.2007
ZEERLE
=AXH
Exercise price* 1T fE HK$0.2244
0.2244% 7T
Dividend yield F S| = 0%
Expected volatility BHKE 80.01%
Risk-free interest rate R A= 3.973%
Expected life of option BHRBFR 3 years
35

Closing share price K BER I K E*
at grant date* HK$0.2160
02160/ 7T

*  After adjustment for the Bonus Issue.

The expected volatility, which is based on the approximate
historical volatility of closing prices of the share of the
Company in the past one year immediately before the
date of grant, reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also
not necessarily be the actual outcome. The risk fee rate
represents the yields to maturity of respective Hong Kong
Exchange Fund Note as at the share options grant date.
The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns
that may occur.

No other features of options grant were incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

At the balance sheet date, the Company had
307,500,000 (2009: 147,700,000, adjusted for Bonus
Issue) share options outstanding under the 2002 Scheme
which represented approximately 10.72% (2009: 5.53%)
of the Company's share in issue at that date. The exercise
in full of the outstanding share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the
issue of 307,500,000 (2009: 147,700,000) additional
shares and additional share capital of HK$3,075,000
(2009: HK$1,477,000) and share premium of
HK$25,188,000 (2009: HK$13,010,000) (before issue
expenses).

33. 8RR El (@)
Date of share options grant
BRERLAY
17.09.2007 11.05.2009 16.09.2009
—BBLE —BERE —BERE
hBT+tH ERT-H hA+RE
HK$0.2420 HK$0.0730 HK$0.1160
0.2420% 7T 0.0730/87T 0.1160/ 7T
0% 0% 0%
71.77%  48.39%-55.78% 50.19%
3.856%  0.363%-0.700% 0.352%
3 years 1.5-2.4 years 1.5 years
3% 15245 1.5%
HK$0.2820 HK$0.0740 HK$0.1160
0.2820/8 7T 0.0740% 7 0.1160%8 7T

o DREBARETIELRE -

TEERR B =R AR AR R B E R
agamsgz—izuwcsm;&mﬁ

C RLE SR B AR R AR KRB B R
fE““ ABRERER - BRARAN X
RERBEAEBIEESEER 2T
quj-ly/\’ °E§HX$§Z%EHEMLEE¢$EB

ERELENMETE @ ARLREE
ARE IR 21T -

AEATERTEFREREZER
R E AR IE -

E" EER RBRE-_ZTZT— i?iu N
N 7 HB307,500,0000 (ZEZ h
E 147,700,0000% © B %t 4T i 3 77
EREBAR) RTEBERE HEXA
AIRZBHEBITHARAL10.72%
(ZZEZTNF 5530) - HZEHT
BREETZHTE ZARAREAE
AR 1% EH307,500,0000% (=
TE N F 1 147,700,0000% ) %8 4b 3%
17 K B8 INA% ZX3,075,0008 oL (==
TR F 1,477,000 70) & %Eﬁl\ﬂifﬁ
% 825,188,000/ 7T (_ =T NF
13,010,000/ 7C) (RHBREEITER) ©
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BE-_Z—ZF=A=+—HIFE
34.OTHER RESERVES 34. Hftb 5
THE GROUP REH
Capital Share
redemption options  Exchange Special ~ Contributed
reserve reserve reserve reserve surplus Total
Ex
Fofie BRERE  EXRE  BRRE  AARR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx Thn T T T T
Balance at 1 April 2008 RZFE\FMA-RB L5 13,878 6,956 (499) 78,176 684,966 783477
Currency translation differences EHRERE - - 602 - - 602
Balance at 31 March 2009 RIFENFZA=t-RAZEH 13,878 6,956 103 78176 684966 784079
Share options granted RitERE - 7144 - - - 7144
Transfer on exercise of share options A7 (FEETRiER 88 - (5,344) - - - (5344)
Transer on lapse of share options ~~ REREANEEE - (938) - - - (938)
Currency translation differences EHHEEE - - 199 - - 199
Balance at 31 March 2010 R-F-TE=A=t-HzEH 13,878 7818 302 78176 684966 785,140

The contributed surplus of the Group represents
the cancellation of an amount of approximately
HK$48,000,000 from the share premium account of the
Company and the credit of an amount of approximately
HK$610,247,000 of the Company’'s share capital
cancelled in 2002 and the contribution of approximately
HK$26,719,000 from the placing of warrants in 2002
that had expired in 2003.

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal amount of the share capital issued
by the Company in exchange for the nominal amount of
share capital of its subsidiaries acquired at the date of a
previous group reorganisation.

KRB ZEHABBRIBFIEARR KD
/m{ﬁﬁﬁqﬂi@ztsoooooo,%m&ﬁé_z
T FFHEAR A 4610,247,000/8
TTRAEREMNAR_EE _FRER
TE-FEMIABREZMFSKIELD
26,719,000/ 7T °

REBORFRFHEEAR RN EATH
SEEHA BRI EEN B2 B
NPT 37T AR AN T 1B B AR S Y B X R
AEERERE -
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BHE_Z—ZF=A=+—HILFE

34.OTHER RESERVES (continued) 34. Hfb 8 (&)
THE COMPANY b NN
Share Capital Share
premium redemption Contributed options Accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve losses Total
E5ER
R aER i BABR BRERE Z0H6 )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL THET THET TAL TAL
Balance at 1 April 2008 RZZEN\EOA-Bz&EH 593,840 13,878 907,760 6,956 (1,306,601) 215833
Total comprehensive loss ~ AFE2EFELE
for the year - - - - (108,147) (108,147)
Balance at 31 March 2009 H=ZEAEZR=+-A7L# 593,840 13878 907,760 6956 (1,414748) 107,686
Share options granted R RRE - - - 7,144 - 7,144
Fxercise of share options TEBRE 20,504 - - (5,344) - 15,160
Bonus issue RET (22,505) - - - - (22,505)
Share options lapsed BREXY - - - (938) 938 -
Total comprehensive loss A E2ABEER
for the year - - - - (51197)  (51,197)
Balance at 31 March 2010 H=E-FEZA=1-B7&# 591,839 13878 907,760 7818 (1,465007) 56,288

The share options reserve represents the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related
option expire or be forfeited.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents:

(i) the difference between the consolidated
shareholders’ funds of the subsidiaries at the date
on which they were acquired by the Company, and
the nominal value of the Company's shares issued
for the acquisition at the time of a previous group
reorganisation;

(i) the cancellation of an amount of approximately
HK$48,000,000 from the share premium account
of the Company and the credit of an amount of
approximately HK$610,247,000 of the Company's
share capital cancelled in 2002; and

BREFRERERDIERRKITEZ
BRENATE ERHEBREES
8 ZEESIARDEER X
SR BRERERMKREUER - R
tERFHEE

KRB ZEANBRE

() ANABFAEEZHMERRREE
FRGeRREcRFHEESE
CEESETR A S A NN E7)
EENZR

(i) EHARFRKRNEERE T D
48,000,000/ 7T * M kX = F
ToFFHARBABRAZHN
610,247,000/8 TR + &
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34. OTHER RESERVES (continued)

THE COMPANY (continued)
The contributed surplus of the Company represents:
(continued)

(i) the contribution of approximately HK$26,719,000
from the placing of warrants in 2002 that had
expired in 2003.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus account of the
Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(a) the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of the Company's assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium
account.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company had no
reserves available for distribution to shareholders at 31
March 2009 and 31 March 2010.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE_ZT-ZF=-A=1T—HLFE

3. Hitb k4B (&)

KRR (&)
RRBZEABBRE : (B)

(i RZEBEZE -_FHRENR_ZZ=F
EmzRBEEZMERELD
26,719,000 JT °

REARZE-NN\—FREE (K
7)) ARBZHABBKRAHDIK -
A HHERTHER - KRBT E
BEABRRE RIORMNREHIELD
K

(@) A REE SRR3R R &
EEEIHEE X

(b) ARAREBEEZAEREBE/AM
PRERE - EEBETRARK
MEER=F ZHEM -

EERRA R-BEAFZA
= t-AR-F-FTE=A={-
A AR FRMARSIETREL 6
-
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35.

—EFE=-A=+—-HALFE

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 15 June 2009, the Group acquired the entire equity
interest in EEMBABMAERZEARBR AT (Chongqing
Sunrise Property Development Company Limited) and &
EESLAEEXBMREMAT (Chongging Feng Hong Ji
Enterprise Company Limited) (together, the “Chongging
Sunrise”) for a cash consideration of RMB70,000,000.
The acquired companies are principally engaged in
investment and properties holding. The principal assets
of the Chongging Sunrise are properties mainly for
commercial use, car park slots and a land parcel located
at Yubei District, Chongging, the PRC, that can be built for
residential purpose.

In March 2010, the Group acquired 80% equity interest
in MEFRSREBEMAR LG (Zibo Liyuan Gamma
Ray Technologies Co. Limited) (“Zibo Liyuan”) for a cash
consideration of RMB44,000,000. The acquired company
is principally engaged in the cold pasteurization of food
and sterilization of medical products utilising advanced
gamma ray technologies in Shandong Province, the PRC.

Details of aggregate net assets acquired and goodwill
were as follows:

35. B E B X A

RZZTEZENFAATHEB AEEK
BERBAEHMERZEERAARE
ERLEEXARETLAT (RBIE
BMEB] 225 RE HBRRASRE
A A R #70,000,0007T ° FTUEE 2 A
AXFENERELRFAEME -EEMN
AEFEEERTEEMEREZY
¥ EFESIMATEEEMHILE
U AR T A{EEEEE o

RZE—TF=F  AEBEWEEKE
%IJ/J%mﬂf Rt R A A ([EIEFR
R])80% s #m - HEARESREAA
K #44,000,0007T ° FTYLEE 2 AR E
EREEPEILRE KA KEMSES
GRITEREREERAMYEERER

BE e

FIE s BEEFEREEBZHBN
T

Chonggqing

Sunrise Zibo Liyuan

EEER HEFR

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Purchase consideration settled in cash ?Efi/i\fiﬁz%lﬁﬁﬁfﬁ - 50,208

Cash deposits paid in 2009 and RZBZNEFERZ

2008 (Note 21) SEHZEJ%?;@ (/f/fﬁ-‘}‘fzi) 76,795 -
Fair value of net assets acquired PriiEz BEFEL N TE

— shown as below —HRIT 76,795 26,616

Goodwill SRS - 23,592

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Zibo Liyuan
is attributable to the immense potentials in food safety
business, especially in the cold pasteurization of food
utilising gamma ray technologies.

WREENRMEEZHEXRBERM
RETRZEXRED  FHIZHERAM
B ARMERMETERRE
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35.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continved) ~ 35. WM B 2 3 (4)

The aggregate assets and liabilities arising from the WHBErZREERBENOT
acquisitions were as follows:

Acquirees’ carrying amount

BB QAR ZREE
Chongqing
Sunrise Zibo Liyuan Total
EEMA R #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - 5 K& &

(Note 15) (Btet15) 5 20,941 20,946
Land use rights (Note 17) T b fE RRE (Ait17) - 12,173 12,173
Investment properties (Note 16) &Y% (f1it16) 40,628 - 40,628
Properties under development 2 & F ¥ % (41:224)

(Note 24) 40,006 - 40,006
Other receivables H{th fE Uk BR 18 21 1,891 1,912
Cash and cash equivalents Re kRS FHIEAR 378 2,579 2,957
Trade and other payables EE 5 & H M BRIE (1,215) (4,315) (5,530)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 31) EIEFEIB & & (#7:#31) (3,028) - (3,028)
Minority interests D BURR R A - (6,653) (6,653)
Net assets acquired FTUEE » B EFE 76,795 26,616 103,411
Purchase consideration KR e Nz KERE

settled in cash - (50,208) (50,208)
Cash and cash equivalents T RE R

acquired REeFFER 378 2,579 2,957
Net cash outflow arising WEEEZRE ML F8

on acquisitions 378 (47,629) (47,251)

Acquisition related costs paid in 2009 of approximately R-TTZNFRAXN ZWERBEXR
HK$6,887,000 have been included in administrative 476,887,000 ;L B st AR & W &
expenses in the consolidated income statement. NZITRER -
Included in the loss for the year is profit of HK$7,269,000 EEFBRAMBEBEE 2 H M
attributable to the additional business generated 7,269,000/ 7T R E B A RE £ 2
by Chongging Sunrise, and loss of HK$192,000 B 192,000 T2t AKX FEE
attributable to Zibo Liyuan. Revenue for the year includes B-AFERABEKRBEEEMHA
HK$2,007,000 in respect of Chongging Sunrise and 22,007,000/ 7T & 2K 8 i 18 KR 2
HK$207,000 in respect of Zibo Liyuan. 207,000 7T °
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35.

36.

37.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

If the above acquired businesses had occurred on
1 April 2009, the Group's turnover would have been
approximately HK$6,302,000 and loss for the year
ended 31 March 2010 would have been approximately
HK$54,250,000.

There was no acquisition during the year ended 31 March
2009.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group and the Company had no significant capital
commitments at both balance sheet dates.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at
both balance sheet dates.

The Company had contingent liabilities in respect of
financial support given to certain subsidiaries which have
capital deficiency to allow them to continue as a going
concern and to meet their liabilities as and when they fall
due.

35. WIB B B 22 ) (48)

W EATREERER ST NLFN
A—B%4A  AIAEEZEEZBHAR
476,302,008  MEBZE T —ZF
—A=+—BLFEZEBEEHAEY
54,250,0007 JT °

NEE-FTAF=A=T—ALE
4 1T IR
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38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group made minimum lease payments of
approximately HK$4,426,000 (2009: HK$2,884,000)
under operating leases in respect of office premises
during the year.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE_ZT-ZF=-A=T—HLFE

38. REMAO T B

TEBEEREHEA
AEBFAREBERES FTEWEL
VU ZEEMRHELDSEBADONK
%) 54,426,000 T (ZEZ N F ¢
2,884,000/ 7T) °

REEH  AEBERERETATRELSE

for future minimum lease payments under non- HAAERRFEELYN - HLE
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows: AT ¢
THE GROUP
REE
2010 2009
—E-BF —"ITTNHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAT
Within one year —FR 3,148 1,031
In the second to fifth year inclusive MEERF (BREERWE) 926 1,051
4,074 2,082

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain of its office premises and
warehouses. Leases are negotiated and fixed for an
average term of two to three years.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments

REBONFTEAEBREETRF
BOELRREZEMNES - HHFH
WERME=F °

REER  AEEARTAIRELS

for future lease receipts under non-cancellable operating BAAERRFEES W - HLE
leases which fall due as follows: mEEBRNT
THE GROUP
rEER
2010 2009
—E-EF —ZETNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Within one year —FNR 373 -
In the second to fifth year inclusive MFEERF (BREEEMTF) 190 -
563 -
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38.

39.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

(continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Operating lease receipts represent rental receivable by
the Group for letting of its investment properties. Leases
are negotiated and fixed for an average term of one to
three years.

The Company had no outstanding commitments under
non-cancellable operating leases at both balance sheet
dates.

BANK AND OTHER FACILITIES

THE GROUP

At 31 March 2010, the minority shareholder of Shanghai
Hualong Construction Co., Ltd, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, and its affiliates had given
corporate guarantees to a bank in respect of bank
borrowing facilities granted to the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the minority
shareholder (also a director) of Prosper City International
Limited (“Prosper City"), a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company and his spouse, pledged certain of their
bank deposits of approximately of HK$3,116,000 and
issued personal guarantees in respect of banking facilities
granted to Prosper City.

38.

39.

I RE AR AL

REEOREE@®

FEBEEREBA(E)
REMHMUPRIEAREEREEERE
EBzRWES - HOFHOHES—

BE=fFo

RMEER  ARRLERETZA
AR R B M A AR o

RITRHEMRME

REE
RZE-—TF=ZA=1+—H £XR7A
FEEMBAR LBEREERBREAR
AREMBARZ VERREHAE
EREREERERNE TRITELAT
R -

HIFE-_ZEFTNF=ZA=+—H1
FE -ARAFZEWNBRAED
BIRAER AT ([RE]) DEHRRE (In
REZ)RHEREBREREERE TIR
TEEREEBETRITERYAE
3,116,000/ 70 2 B AFEIR ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEFE

40.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. B R EE

() BEREDP2EMTA
BRAR NS EMBETAZ &5

(a) Financial instruments by categories
The accounting policies for financial instruments have

been applied to the line items below: HEHINMAT
THE GROUP AR
Assetsat  Available-
fair value for-sale
Loans and through  financial
receivables profit or loss assets Total
RAYE
EXR ABEZz  AHHE
EWkE SREE  SREE oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TATL FAL
Assets as per consolidated balance sheet ~RGEEEBBRZEE
AT 31 March 2010 R=B-BF£=A=t-H
Trade and other receivables EWE SR H AR 9,556 - - 9,556
Financial assets at fair value BRATEFAABEZ
through profit or loss (Note 26) TREE(WiH26) - 7,679 - 7,679
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 27) ReRREEBEE (Hi227) 7218 - - 7218
Total B 16,774 7,679 - 24,453
AT 31 March 2009 R-ZZBNE=A=1-H
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 20)  AJftHESBERE (4220 - - 2,268 2,268
Investment deposits (Note 22) RE®RS (WiH22) 30,000 - - 30,000
Trade and other receivables EWE SR EMER 54942 - - 54942
Financial assets at fair value BOTEABRL
through profit or loss (Note 26) TREE (Wit26) - 6,465 - 6,465
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 27) ReRReEBEE (Hi227) 9,373 - - 9,373
Total B 94,315 6,465 2,268 103,048
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(a) Financial instruments by categories (continued)

40.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 40. B B B B B (47)

() BERBS2ERMITA(F)

Financial
liabilities measured
at amortised cost

BigaE
R R A
HK$'000
FHET
Liabilities as per consolidated balance sheet RiGEEEABRZEE
AT 31 March 2010 R-ZZE-Z2F=A=+—H
Trade and other payables (Note 28) e B 5 & B A BRIE (A7 5128) 34,973
Amount due to a minority shareholder of ERWE AR LEBRR
a subsidiary (Note 29) KIB (B75229) 18,985
Bank borrowings (Note 30) RITEE (A5230) 7,393
Total R 61,351
AT 31 March 2009 R-ZZEZAF=A=1+—H
Trade and other payables (Note 28) B 5 & H At BRIE (#17£28) 22,768
Amount due to a minority shareholder of JERTBTE A R D BARR
a subsidiary (Note 29) I8 (K715129) 16,242
Bank borrowings (Note 30) RITIEE (F1:230) 25,601
Total T 64,611
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40.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  40. B iSRS EE (&)

(a) Financial instruments by categories (continued) () ZERE D 2EMIT A (&)
THE COMPANY 2N
Loans and
receivables
ERREWRE
HK$'000
FET
Assets as per balance sheet REERBRZEE
AT 31 March 2010 R-ZB-ZFF=A=+—8H
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 19) JE WL BT B8 A = RIE (M1t 19) 236,078
Other receivables Hth fE Y AR 18 64
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 27) RekRSFEER (Hit27) 1,922
Total R 238,064
AT 31 March 2009 R-ZBEZAF=A=1+—H
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 19) JE Y Bt /&8 A B 5RIB (K72E19) 379,168
Other receivables H b pe Y BR 18 225
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 27) ReMBSFEIEER (Hit27) 301
Total 4 379,694
Financial

liabilities measured

at amortised cost

E =R
g IR
HK$'000
FHET
Liabilities as per balance sheet REESEBERZAEE
AT 31 March 2010 R-ZE-2F=A=1+—H
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note 19) JE B BB A B RIB (K722 19) 147,849
Other payables (Note 28) H th & < BR 18 (A7 2228) 5,579
Total R 153,428
AT 31 March 2009 R-ZFZAF=A=1+—H
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note 19) FEAHBT B A BRI (K7aE19) 261,135
Other payables (Note 28) H th & (< BR T8 (47 2£28) 5,669
Total ®mEs 266,804
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40.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency
risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk arising in the normal course of its
business and financial instruments. The Group's
risk management objectives and policies mainly
focus on minimizing the potential adverse effects of
these risks on the Group by closely monitoring the
individual exposure as follows:

(1) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss due
to adverse movements in foreign exchange
rates relating to investments denominated
in foreign currencies. The Group's assets
and liabilities are primarily denominated
in Hong Kong dollars. When seeking to
optimise the returns on its funds available
for investments, the Group has certain
investments in foreign operations, whose
net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk.

At 31 March 2010, if Hong Kong dollars
had strengthened/weakened by 10%
against the RMB, with all other variable
held constant, equity would have been
approximately HK$8,070,000 (2009:
HK$594,000), lower or higher.

The sensitivity analysis has been
determined assuming that the change in
foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
balance sheet date and had been applied
to each of the Group entities’ exposure to
currency risk for financial instruments in
existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain
constant. The changes in foreign exchange
rate represent management's assessment
of a reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rate at that date over the period
until the next annual balance sheet date.

40. M RARERE (&)

(b) BB EMEE
REE 7 EREE SRR -
™% E R (B 15N E &k - ﬂ%
R kERER)  FER
DA&*Q%F‘L&&iF&EIEﬁ
BMengEe Rk - AEERR
ai%@%&ﬂ(ﬁi%%q]%ﬁ%@
Y EEIAT Z @RI AR
RitFRBREAEE 2 EETF
TE

(1) 5 /& ke
() HNER B
HNEE [ B 15 B LA ONEE
BEREBENZIREZEE
ME & IR A FE B A
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BrEERBEXZEN
BITRAEREMN - WA
MEEAKEE R 2E
wERTe A5EHE
RONBEI TS EHR S T8
B INBEB 2 EEF
BERZINERERR
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=+t—HB - WBTILA
R¥FE,B2E10%
i H b AT & BT
B Bl SR ok g
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40.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Financial risk factors (continued)
(1) Market risk (continued)

0,

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in
above represent an aggregation of the
effects on each of the Group entities’
profit or loss and equity measured in the
respective functional currencies, translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the balance sheet date for
presentation purposes. The analysis is
prepared on the same basis for 2009.

Interest rate risk

Except for cash and cash equivalents, the
Group has no other significant interest-
bearing assets. The Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest
rates. Management does not anticipate
significant impact on interest-bearing assets
resulted from the changes in interest rates
because the interest rates of bank deposits
are not expected to change significantly.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly related to the Group’s short term
interest-bearing bank borrowings with
floating interest rates.

Borrowings at floating interest rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.
Borrowings at fixed interest rates expose
the Group to fair value interest-rate risk.
Details of the Group’s borrowings have
been disclosed in Note 30.

The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. In order to manage the cash flow
interest rate risk, the Group will repay the
corresponding borrowings when it has
surplus funds.
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40. 5 R ERE (&)

(b) MBEBREZE (&)

(1) 4% /7

0,

(i)
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40.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 40. B B B B B (47)

(b) Financial risk factors (continued) (b) BBEBER (&)
(1) Market risk (continued) (1) T E R (&)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) MEREp (&)
The sensitivity analysis below has been A TEREDN DRI
determined based on the exposure to BRERFBERITEREZ
interest rates for the floating rate bank FRRERERE - RZ L
borrowings at the balance sheet date. For RITEEMS - AT
floating rate bank borrowings, the analysis is DBRRRERH ZARE
prepared assuming the amount of liabilities %%1§R%flif§*i’:}5ﬁ
outstanding at the balance sheet date was R m e -

outstanding for the whole year.
AN — T — T E =

At 31 March 2010, if interest rates on E_Q; 7E| ﬁ;\miggﬁﬁ
floating rate bank borrowings had been =Rz ie pjﬁ“ Eﬁz@
25 basis points higher/lower with all other 2

variables held constant, loss for the year mF P L 2 A

g y RpETE - B EE
would have been approximately HK$6,000 ¥ 1 10 /56 > 496 000
(2009: HK$57.,OOO) hlghgr/lower, mainly ET(—ET HE
as a result of higher/lower interest expense 57 000 7L) F T B2
on floating rate bank borrowings. BHARZEES Y flasy

Bz g, md e

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared BREDTIDERNBR
with the assumption that the change in FREBHDNEE A 3
interest rates had occurred at the balance EMGE YERZA
sheet date and had been applied to ERAREBFEALEZME
the exposure to interest rate risk for the e IAMZHNE ﬂ
relevant financial instruments in existence o MR E N Z B
at that date. The changes in interest rates REET—EAFELEAE
represents management's assessment of A EHfEA - ERER
reasonably possible changes in interest MEEGIEAI G 2 #FEE
rates at that date over the period until 2 5 E o oA ik
the next annual balance sheet date. The —ETNFR-EER
analysis is prepared on the same basis for Be

2009.
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40.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  40. i B EBEE (&)
(b) Financial risk factors (continued) (b) MBEEAMEARE (&)
(1) Market risk (continued) (1) 5 EE (&)

(iii) Price risk (i) B E ke

The Group is exposed to equity securities
price risk for the equity investments held by
the Group which are classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Majority of the Group's equity securities are
listed on the Stock Exchange and are valued
at quoted market prices as at the balance
sheet date. The Group is not exposed to
commodity price risk.

Listed investments held in the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss
portfolio have been chosen taking reference
to their long term growth potential and
returns and are monitored regularly for
performance. Given that the volatility of
the stock markets may not have a direct
correlation with the Group's investment
portfolio, it is impractical to determine the
impact that the changes in stock market
indices would have on the Group's portfolio
of equity investments.

At 31 March 2010, it is estimated that an
increase/a decrease of 10% in the market
value of the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, with all other
variables held constant, loss for the year
would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$768,000 (2009: HK$647,000). The
stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible
changes in the market value of the Group's
investment portfolio over the period until
the next annual balance sheet date. The
analysis is prepared on the same basis for
2009.

AASEFE 2BAK
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ErEHE T A 8E

BEEHEBENBERT

ETREMGEHZ
HAEBRERKREHAS
CHEBRTIERR -

RZZE—-—ZTF=AH
=t+—H 23EME
BERBFITEZBRT
RNEBIZAFEFAR
B ERMEECLTE
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& 18 18R 48 &
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BEC

—EFE-A=+—-HALFE

40.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Financial risk factors (continued)
(1) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Price risk (continued)

The Company is exposed to other price risk
in respect of investments in subsidiaries.
The sensitivity to price risk in relation to
the investments in subsidiaries cannot
be reliably determined due to numerous
uncertainties regarding the future
development of these subsidiaries.

(2) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is principally attributable
to trade and other receivables and bank
balances. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk. It has policies in
place to ensure that sales of products are made
and services are provided to customers with an
appropriate credit history. The customer with
sound payment history would accumulate a
higher credit limit.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without
taking account of any collateral held is
represented by the carrying amount of each
of financial assets in the consolidated balance
sheet after deducting any impairment allowance.
Further quantitative disclosure in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
and other receivables are set out in Note 25.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high quality external credit ratings in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

40. M RARERE (&)

(b) MBEBREZE (&)
(1) M5 EE (&)

(i) EEER (&)
ﬁﬁlﬁﬁunﬁﬁgﬁwﬁg
NARE 2 HAER R
% AZEMBAAZ
RRERY R KETHE
TARE -WHIrEHRBA
Al & B R b 2 B
J;fkﬁz—fslzfi"

) 5=

$EIZFEH a T BKE
%W%%&H%%EM&E

R AEBEYESEE
$ZE% o NEBRE
REZHE  AERAESR
REEECERZEFPHEE
fn MR RE - ERTHR
H2EPAREBRSEER
B
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40.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  40. B iSRS EE (&)

(b) Financial risk factors (continued)
(3) Liquidity risk

(b) HHERBEE (&)
3) B EZE R

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the parent company’s board when the
borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels
of authority. Prudent liquidity risk management
implies maintaining sufficient cash and
marketable securities, the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities and the ability to close out
market positions. The Group aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit
lines available and sufficient bank deposits to
meet short term cash requirements.

The following amounts are the contractual
undiscounted cash flow payments of the Group's
financial liabilities (including interest payments)
repayable within one year or repayable on

AEEETEEER CE
B2 EEEBEEReER-
BRASBHBZEHIEENMN
EEERUNENTERF 2B
EHRK - EMHERBEDRER
BEZETKE AALST
RAESESHEFEER -
BEZRDESRAKREEER
KEHRBF AR RAE
Br BRREZEEHE
EREeBEHES LA
NETEEL AEBEHR
EREFITEHH 22 %
EEEH URFEGCE
EM W EABREBZRITRE
FHoUAENEHAESRE -

TIFEBER—FABERR
BREBNRZARESRE
BE(BEMMME) ZAK3E
MARSREMNK -

demand.

HK$'000
FET

R-B-—FFE=A=+—H
EBAE S REAMERTA 34,973
FEBH B AR D&

At 31 March 2010
Trade and other payables
Amount due to a minority shareholder

of a subsidiary MR R SRIAE 18,985
Bank borrowings RITEE 7,903
61,861

R-BEBAFE=ZA=+—H
BE S R EAMERIE 22,768
S NI

At 31 March 2009
Trade and other payables
Amount due to a minority shareholder

of a subsidiary P& R KA 16,242
Bank borrowings RITIEE 27,764
66,774
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40.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Capital risk management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors
its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the Group
defines net debt as total debt (which include trade
and other payables and bank borrowings) less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity. The Group's policy is to keep
that ratio at a reasonable level.

40. B RARERE (&)

(c) EEBERE

REENESBERE 2RA
H B2 R B K CF AR R 2 B IR
EEBANMNAEBERAERRE
KREAEBRSELEEEH
BEEZRN  UBEARRET
KEH - FASFRBEMESZTS
ABIF 2R ©
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BARRME AR BER A KNELE
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ZEERZE ZERFFE A
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40.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Capital risk management (continued)

The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at 31 March

2010 and 2009 are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE—_Z-—ZF=FA=+—HILEFE

40. 5 R ERE (&)

(0 BLEBRER ()
K- 2ER-FEAF=A
=+t -RZEHFEHEHARRK

RNEE R -

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Trade and other payables ENE 5 R AR 34,973 22,768

Amount due to a minority LANLAIENGI S
shareholder of a subsidiary 18,985 16,242
Bank borrowings RITEE 7,393 25,601
Total debt B4R 61,351 64,611
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERIReERIER 7,218 9,373
Net debt BI5FE 54,133 55,238
Adjusted capital — Total equity R FIEEN mAREs 109,157 130,405
Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio & &R AN L 50% 42%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to either internally or externally imposed

capital requirements.

RN A) S E AR TP B A~ AL A B
SNSRI B AR TE AR IR ©
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40.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

(e

Fair values

The carrying value of financial instruments measured
at fair value at the balance sheet date across the
three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in
HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the
fair value of each financial instrument categorised in
its entirety based on the lowest level of input that is
significant to that fair value adjustment.

Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments.

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices
in active markets for similar financial instruments,
or using valuation techniques in which all significant
inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable
market data.

Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant input is
not based on observable market data.

At 31 March 2010, the only financial instruments
measured at fair value of the Group are financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss amounting
to HK$7,679,000 and were classified as level 1.

Estimation of fair values

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is based on quoted market prices at
the balance sheet date without any deduction for
transaction costs.

The carrying values less allowance for impairment
of current receivables and of current payables are
a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
Estimated discounted cash flows at the current
market interest rate are used to determine fair value
for all other financial instruments (i.e. Level 3 —
lowest level).
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RELATED PARTIES

During the year, the Group had significant transactions
with the following related parties, details of which are as
follows:

Key management compensation REEXZEEERAER
of the Group: g
Salaries and other short-term Fr O & E Ath k2 B
employee benefits EBE®EH

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant
transactions with related parties during the year or
significant balances with them at the end of the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE_ZT-ZF=-A=1T—HLFE

.TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH MNBEEBREATZRERES

FA-AEBBRATHEBAEALET
BEARS  #BWT:

2010 2009
—g-8F _—TThE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT Fisi
5,188 1,635

BRERWEEIN FALEHLMER
BEALTZERR SN ANEEFE
B B A BN ER

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 42 R IKEREHE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("“MPF Scheme") for all employees in Hong Kong. The
MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of an independent trustee.

Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions
at 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which
contribution is matched by employees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions under the scheme. The
contributions arising from the MPF Scheme charged to the
consolidated income statement represent contributions
payable to the fund by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the scheme. No forfeited contribution is available
to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

ZFEIEE HRE B R BT 98 il 1
feata ([riEEsE]) - @ﬁ*
‘E’Jr %J B %R Bl A a2 5t SR
BEIMELAEeFEHEERER - éﬁé
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42.RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME (continued)

The employees in the subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of state-managed retirement benefits schemes
operated by the PRC government. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

43.LITIGATIONS

(a) InJuly 2005, the Company was notified by the Hong

Kong Companies Registry that an annual return of
Gold United International Industries Limited (“Gold
United”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, filed in May 2005 (“May Annual Return”)
contained information, including information relating
to members and directors of Gold United, which is
significantly different from the original annual return
that was presented by the Group on 29 April 2005.

On 13th July 2005, the Company filed a Writ of
Summons against four persons (the “Defendants”)
seeking, amongst others, declarations by the court to
the effect that Winsky Management Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, is the beneficial
owner of 51% of the issued share capital of Gold
United. The Defendants were those persons who
purportedly filed the false information with the Hong
Kong Companies Registry and/or were identified as
members and directors in the May Annual Return and
other documents. At the material time, Gold United
was holding a 80% direct equity interest in #1118
ERMAE AR AR (Hangzhou Hengyun liaotong
Development Company Limited)("HZHY"), which
company was engaged in the operation of a highway
in the PRC. The directors considered that the Group
was unable to exercise its rights as major shareholder
either to control the assets and operations or to
exercise significant influence over the financial and
operating policy decisions of the HZHY. Therefore,
Gold United and HZHY were deconsolidated as of 1
April 2006. As a result, a loss on deconsolidation of
subsidiaries of HK$7,194,000 was recorded in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2007.
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43.LITIGATIONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(continued)

The Writ of Summons was amended on 1 February
2006 and re-amended on 10 October 2006 and re-
re-amended on 13 July 2008 respectively.

In June 2009, Gold United was notified by the Hong
Kong Companies Registry that the various statutory
returns and forms confirmed by the Group had
already been filed under the public record of the
Gold United and that the documents submitted by
the other parties would be returned.

After due consideration of the matter (including
but not limited to the fact that the public record of
Gold United at the Hong Kong Companies Registry
has been rectified), without prejudice to the legal
position and rights of the Group to seek remedies
from the Defendants, the Board of directors has
decided not to proceed with the legal proceedings at
this stage.

On 24 October 2007, Silver Wind International
Limited (“Silver Wind"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a conditional agreement
(the “Acquisition Agreement”) with Stronway
Development Limited (“Stronway Development”),
pursuant to which Silver Wind agreed to acquire
from Stronway Development the entire equity
interest in Winmax Asia Investment Limited (“Winmax
Asia”). Under the arrangement, Winmax Asia will
in turn acquire the entire equity interest in Beijing
Jianxing Real Estate Development Co. (“Jianxing”)
along with Jianxing's standalone villas development
project in Beijing known as "“#T2EE" (New Star
Garden). The aggregate consideration payable for
the acquisition was RMB433,000,000 which was to
be settled in cash and by transfer of two villas. In
December 2007, RMB20,000,000 was paid under
the Acquisition Agreement to Stronway Development
by Silver Wind as deposit (the “Deposit”). Details of
the acquisition are set out in the Company's circular
dated 14 December 2007.
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43, R
(a)

(b)

For the year ended 31 March 2010
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43.LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b) (continued)

In April 2008, on the grounds, amongst other
things, that the subject matter under the
Acquisition Agreement was frustrated, Silver Wind
decided to terminate the Acquisition Agreement
and, through its legal representative has served a
notice of termination to Stronway Development.
In order to protect the position of Silver Wind
and to recover, amongst other things, the Deposit
from Stronway Development legal proceedings
were instigated against Stronway Development on
this matter in the High Court of Hong Kong on 15
April 2008.

As at the date of this report, the legal proceedings
against Stronway Development are still pending

B RE AR AL

43.5F 70 ()

(b) (#&)

and there is no significant development.

44.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’'s principal subsidiaries at 31

March 2010 are as follows:

RZZETZNFHA ER(HAF
BREIREBEHZEZENEFER
B Silver WindiR E 4 1R
BwE TEBHZEEARD
Stronway Developmentix i 4% |-
BAEE o BIRESilver Windz F
7= & [A1Stronway Development
EBE (AR BE) ZEE - Silver
Wind®R —ZZZN\FHA+H A5
It E= RN E B S F AR $Stronway
Development/® F /A2 FF o

R E BB - & ¥ Stronway
DevelopmentZ JAETTENIAIR -
BEUWESRER -

M. FTEHRBLARFERE

R-E—FE=A=+—8 £AAF
ZEEWBAAREMT ;

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share Effective
Paid up  capital/registered proportion
Place of share capital/ capital held by of issued
incorporation/ registered the Company*/  capital held
Name of subsidiary registration capital subsidiaries by the Group Principal activities
AR /KR
RAMBERIT rEERE
MR, BERE/ Rx/Em/ BRATRA
WEARER i 2 AMEE BEAREELA BERLAl TERK
% %
Captain Shore Limited BV Us$1 100 100 Securities trading
ERAES [E BHEE
Full Champion Financial BV US$3 100* 100 Securities trading
Limited EERAES IET RHEE
New Team Limited BV US$1 100* 100 Investment holding
ERREAES B REER




44.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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4. T ERB LA RIFEE &)

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share Effective
Paid up  capital/registered proportion
Place of share capital/ capital held by of issued
incorporation/ registered the Company*/  capital held
Name of subsidiary registration capital subsidiaries by the Group Principal activities
AAT/WE
NAFMKERT  AREFRE
AL,/ BRRE/ R&/Ef/  BRORE
WEAEEM atff i B afER EXEELS BRLA  IERHR
% %
Power Rise International BV US$1 100* 100 Securities trading
Limited RERAES B EHEE
Prosper City International Hong Kong HK$100 51 51 Trading of building
Limited BE 100/87T materials and provision
RERRERRA of renovation services
BEMHNEH R
REZERY
Shanghai Hualong PRC US$11,080,000 51 51 Property development
Construction Co. Ltd. F 11,080,000 7T and sales
LBERRRBRAA NEERRHE
Sun Spread Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
REEEBRAF 0 BT RERK
Super Target Limited BV US$1 100* 100 Investment holding
RERAES 1E7T RERK
Top Field Technology Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
EEMBEARAR BA 1B REZR
Unique Gold Investments Ltd ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
RTREBRAT] &R BT RERR
TREMEREREBRAR  PRC RMB10,000,000 100 90  Property development
(Beijing Yo Luan Property h AE#10,000,0007 NERER
Development Company Limited)
ERBARMEREERDR  PRC RMB20,000,000 100 100 Property holding
(Chongging Sunrise Property R AR#20,000,0007 REER
Development Company Limited)
EEELEEXAREMALR  PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100 Property development
(Chongging Feng Hong Ji i AR%10,000,0007 NEER
Enterprise Company Limited)
EEFRERER PRC RMB3,928,600 80 80 Gamma ray irradiation
ARAF H AR#3928,6007T services

(Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray
Technologies Co. Limited)

(355743 R 51 R
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44,

45.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

The above table includes the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results of the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Comparative information has been restated to achieve
a consistent presentation as a result of the adoption of
revised HKFRSs and the presentation of sale proceeds
and related cost of sales for sales of investments held for
trading to reflect the nature of sales of financial assets in
a more appropriate manner.

In prior years, sale proceeds of investments held for
trading were presented in the consolidated income
statement within turnover and the related cost of sales
were presented on the face of the consolidated income
statement.

In the current year, the Group changed its presentation
of turnover and cost of sales, as in the opinion of the
directors, it is more appropriate to present the gain/
loss on investments held for trading disposed of during
the year on a net basis so as to provide more relevant
information in respect of the Group’s operations and to
conform to market practices. The above changes do not
have any impact on the results and financial position of
the Group in respect of the current and prior periods.

44,

45.
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£

For the year ended 31

March

B RE

BE=RA=1+—HLEE
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
—EERFE —TELF —TT)N\F “TTNF “B-2F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FHET FHET FET
Turnover, restated EERE 0 KEEY 9,730 10,024 8,410 3,902 3,762
Loss attributable to ViN/NET) Y
equity holders of A AEIE

the Company &8 (26,438) (22,993) (99,379) (78,812) (51,194)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENRERE

As at 31 March
WN=A=+—H

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
—EERFE —TELF —TT)N\F —TTNF “B-2F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FHET FHET FET
Total assets BEPTE 391,979 368,715 284,182 195,016 176,855
Total liabilities BB 171,594 69,934 75,567 64,611 67,698
Net assets BEFE 220,385 298,781 208,615 130,405 109,157
Minority interests DERR R 10,241 - - - 6,615
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Note:

In prior years, sale proceeds of investments held for trading were
presented within turnover and the related cost of sales were
presented on the face of the consolidated income statement. In the
current year, the Group changed its presentation of turnover and
cost of sales, as in the opinion of the directors, it is more appropriate
to present the gain/loss on investments held for trading disposed
of during the year on a net basis so as to provide more relevant
information in respect of the Group's operations and to conform to
market practices.

The above changes do not have any impact on the results and
financial position of the Group in respect of the current and
prior periods.
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